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Introduction

History of Origins of this Book

In the beginning of April 1993 | got to know Gerhard Forster, a retired de-
greed engineer, originally from Silesia, but who had worked for decades in
Switzerland, had acquired Swiss citizenship and had settled in Wirenlos in
the Canton of Aargau.* Forster was contemplating establishing a revisionist
publishing house and to engage me as an author. My task would be to
compile the first systematic collection of perpetrator confessions and eye-
witness reports about the gassings of Jews in the National Socialist (NS)
concentration camps as claimed by the representatives of orthodox histori-
ography. For Forster | seemed to be the right man, because in my just-then-
published revisionist debut work Der Holocaust auf dem Prifstand (The
Holocaust on the Test Bench, Graf 1993) | had already quoted a considera-
ble amount of such confessions and witness testimonies. | was deeply tak-
en with this proposal, especially as I had time to do such work — a week be-
fore, immediately after the publication of the just-mentioned book, | had
lost my position as a teacher of French and Latin at the College-
preparatory School in Therwil, in the Canton of Basel Land.

Basically, two possibilities existed regarding the possible structure of
the planned study: I could present a cross section of perpetrator confessions
and eyewitness reports about all six camps labeled in orthodox historio-
graphy as “extermination camps” or confine myself to one of these. After
comprehensive deliberations with Forster as well as with Prof. Robert
Faurisson who, together with me, had visited Forster in July 1993 in
Wirenlos and who’d made a range of useful suggestions for the forthcom-
ing work, | decided to go with the second approach. Herewith the choice of
camp was obvious — it could only be Auschwitz due to the following rea-
sons:

1 About the person of Gerhard Forster, see Graf 1999.
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— In the scholarly historiography of the Holocaust as well as in media
propaganda, Auschwitz at that time played a dominant role.? In the pub-
lic awareness it consequently had become the ultimate symbol of the
“industrial extermination of the Jews by the NS regime.”

— There are far more perpetrator confessions and witness testimonies
about Auschwitz than there are about all five of the other “extermina-
tion camps” combined.

— For Auschwitz, an exceptionally large number of documents by the SS
camp administration still exists, enabling the historian to compare the
claims of the witnesses to the documented facts of the conditions in the
camp. Among the existing material is also a multitude of documents
(building plans included) about the crematories in which homicidal gas
chambers using the pesticide Zyklon B are said to have been installed
and in which the corpses of the murdered people would have been in-
cinerated subsequently. This gives the researcher the opportunity to ver-
ify whether the claimed mass gassings and mass incinerations were
technically possible at all. Besides that, the crematories still exist, at
least in a state of ruin, which also strongly simplifies the researcher’s
task. About the “extermination camps” Chelmno, Belzec, Sobibor and
Treblinka hardly any contemporary documents exist, and the camps
themselves were torn down before the retreat of the Germans.

As the source material available to me was just too sparse, in September
1993 1 visited the Italian independent scholar Carlo Mattogno, who lives
near Rome, and who for over a decade has concerned himself with the per-
secution of Jews in the Third Reich and who had already published various
papers on this subject. Mattogno had a large number of witness reports
about Auschwitz at his disposal | could copy and use for my forthcoming
work. Titled Auschwitz: Tatergestandnisse und Augenzeugen des Holo-
caust (Auschwitz: Perpetrator Confessions and Eyewitnesses of the Holo-
caust), my book was published in May 1994 in Wirenlos by the publishing
house established by Forstner called “Neue Visionen.” The centerpiece of
my study consisted of the testimonies of perpetrators and witnesses as to
the mass gassings in Auschwitz as posited by orthodox historiography;
each witness report was followed by an analysis.

Now almost two and a half decades have gone by since the publication
of the original German edition of that book. In the face of the undiminished
relevance of the subject a new edition seemed highly desirable. To just re-
print the edition of 1994 was not appropriate for several reasons. In the

2 Meanwhile this has considerably diminished. Today, because of reasons easy to understand,
many representatives of orthodox Holocaust historiography seek to divert the focus to the
“eastern extermination camps”, the “gas vans” or the mass executions behind the eastern
front.
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first place it contained quite a few mistakes and unfortunate wordings that
needed to be corrected. More important, however, was that since 1994 re-
visionist research, particularly with regard to Auschwitz, had greatly ad-
vanced, in which above all the magisterial work of Carlo Mattogno must be
praised. While revising my book, 1’ve relied upon these new revisionist in-
sights.

The structure of the new edition follows that of the old one. In the end,
the number of the witness reports and perpetrator confessions dealt with
here has not changed despite deletions, additions and certain agglomera-
tions.® Slightly adjusted, however, was the title of the book: As the number
of witness reports is substantially higher than the number of confessions,
this new version of the book is called Auschwitz: Eyewitness Reports and
Perpetrator Confessions of the Holocaust. Unlike the old version, the
“eyewitness reports” and the “perpetrator confessions” are presented in
separate chapters: The former form the second chapter, while the latter
form the third chapter of the book. In the first chapter, the most important
information about Auschwitz is given as background — a short history of
the camp, the numbers of those deported to the camp, the proven and the
claimed number of victims, the crematories and open-air incinerations, the
claimed Killing sites and the claimed murder weapon Zyklon B — in such a
way that I can refer to that data in the subsequent chapters as needed. In the
epilogue, a recapitulation is then drawn from what has been previously de-
veloped.

Two Necessary Clarifications of Terms

In order to avoid terminological misunderstandings from the outset, let the
terms “Holocaust” and “gas chambers” be immediately defined:

The term “Holocaust” — that, since the airing on German TV at the be-
ginning of 1979 of the American movie by the same name, has also perme-
ated the German-speaking world — goes back to an ancient Greek word in
an etymological sense meaning “complete burning” and originally meaning
“burnt offering.” | denote this to be the alleged mass extermination of Jews
in gas chambers as well as the subsequent incineration of the corpses in

3 Inthe old version, the Vrba-Wetzler Report and Vrba’s book of 1964 had been treated in sep-
arate entries itemized, as were H8ss’s confession and his notes from Krakow Prison. In the
new version they are treated as one item in both cases. The statements made by Michat Kula
are no longer presented as a stand-alone witness testimony, but are included in the section
dealing with the testimonies by Henryk Tauber. The unproductive reports by Seweryna
Szmaglewska, Milton Buki and André Lettich are omitted. New are the reports by the Polish
resistance movement about Auschwitz 1941-1944 that are treated as one testimony, the testi-
monies by Kurt Priifer and Karl Schultze while in Soviet detention, as well as the confessions
by Hans Aumeier and Maximilian Grabner.
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crematories or in open air. Not belonging to the term “Holocaust” are the
persecutions and deportations of Jews during the Second World War — dis-
puted by nobody — as well as the completely undisputed existence of con-
centration camps, in which a large number of Jewish and non-Jewish de-
tainees died as a consequence of epidemics, malnutrition and deprivation,
and to a lesser extent also of maltreatment or execution. The executions of
Jews behind the eastern front, represented in orthodox historiography as
part of the Holocaust in terms of systematic extermination of Jews, are not
dealt with in this book.

“Gas chambers” | denote to solely be spaces for killing people by gas,
though not the disinfestation or delousing chambers of which the existence
and use in Auschwitz as well as in other concentration camps is undisput-
ed, and in which clothing, blankets etc. were cleansed of vermin by means
of gas. (In the German wartime documents these disinfestation chambers
were occasionally denoted “gas chambers.”)

The Significance of Holocaust Witness Testimonies in
Public Awareness

Anyone disclosing himself as revisionist in front of an open-minded but
only superficially informed audience will practically always be confronted
with the following three main objections:

The Photos

“But all of us have seen the images of heaps of corpses in the concen-
tration camps. Are you going to tell me those are Photoshop crea-
tions?”

The Question about the Whereabouts of the Disappeared Jews
“Where did those millions of Jews go then, if they weren’t gassed?”

The Witness Testimonies

“But there were numerous witnesses that told about the mass gassings
in Auschwitz and in other camps. Do you have the presumptuousness to
state they all lied?”

Experience shows that for most of the defenders of the orthodox version of
history and who are not familiar or only partially familiar with the facts,
the third of these three arguments is the most important and decisive. In my
experience, it is easier to convince an anti-revisionist interlocutor of the
dubiousness of his position with regard to the first two points.
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typhus victims, excavated and filled under the direction of British
troops after the occupation of the camp in the spring of 1945.

The case is easiest when it’s about the photos. Usually it suffices to
point out that these photos are indeed real — except for some that do not
carry much weight, however, and therefore can be ignored here — but they
do not provide any proof of the alleged mass exterminations of Jews in
“extermination camps.” They are from camps in west Germany, such as
Bergen-Belsen, Buchenwald, Nordhausen and Dachau, and show the vic-
tims of epidemics, malnutrition, exhaustion and Allied air-raids. During the
advance of the Red Army, the Germans had evacuated the eastern camps in
order not to let potential soldiers and workers fall into the Soviet’s hands.
In the western camps, where these transferred inmates were detained in
overburdened facilities, an uncontrollable outbreak of epidemics occurred
in the overcrowded barracks; frequently, neither medical supplies nor food
could reach the camps anymore due to the destruction of the German infra-
structure by the Allied air-raid campaign. As a result, for instance in Da-
chau, where a total of 12,445 detainees had died between the beginning of
1940 and the end of 1944, no less than 15,348 died in the first four months
of 1945, hence more than during the entire preceding five years (Neuhdu-
sler 1981).

These facts are not disputed by orthodox historiography, but that
doesn’t stop the media from showing these photos as proof of the Holo-
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caust and from falsely portraying the victims of typhus and malnutrition as
having been murdered.

Less easy for a revisionist is it to answer the question about the wherea-
bouts of the “disappeared” Jews in a short and convincing way. First of all,
he will emphasize that, as a consequence of the National Socialist persecu-
tions, indeed a very large number of Jews died, the traditional six-million
number being far from any reality, though. In this context some revisionists
might refer to Walter Sanning’s comprehensive demographic study The
Dissolution published in 1983, but aside from the fact that this book has
quite some weaknesses, making it a target of justified critique,* rarely will
the interlocutor be willing to read a whole book full of dry statistics. Gen-
erally, a reference to the enormous Jewish migration from the former Ger-
man-controlled areas that started immediately after the war is more con-
vincing. A notion about its extent is for instance given by the following ar-
ticle, published November 24, 1978 on page 8 of the State-Times (Baton
Rouge, Louisiana; somewhat shortened also in the San Francisco Chroni-
cle, Nov. 25, 1978, p. 6):

“The Steinbergs once flourished in a small Jewish village in Poland.
That was before Hitler’s death camps. Now more than 200 far-flung
survivors and descendants are gathered here to share a special four-
day celebration that began, appropriately, on Thanksgiving Day. Rela-
tives came Thursday from Canada, France, England, Argentina, Co-
lombia, Israel and from at least 13 cities across the United States. ‘It’s
fabulous,” said Iris Krasnow of Chicago, There are five generations
here — from 3 months old to 85. People are crying and having a won-
derful time. It’s almost like a World War 11 refugee reunion.’ [...] For
Iris Krasnow’s mother Helene, who had emigrated from Poland to
France and from there to the U.S., the reunion is a joyous event. ‘I can-
not believe that so many survived the Holocaust.””

On June 29, 1987 the Chicago Tribune reported on a gathering of the Jew-
ish family Mintz. Harry Mintz originally believed that all of his family
members had perished in the Holocaust. After he went on a search, he dis-
covered around 150 living relatives spread over many countries. A large
number of them participated in the mentioned family gathering.

Such reports impress a layman seriously interested in historical facts
much more than hard-to-digest population statistics, and they are often able
to shake his beliefs.

4 Sanning’s estimate of 300,000 Jewish victims in total is surely far off, because in the concen-
tration and labor camps alone, about 350,000 Jews died. And with this, the other victim cate-
gories, for instance the Jews executed behind the eastern front by firing squad, haven’t even
been taken into consideration yet. On this, see Graf 2017.
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Image 2: Victims of an air raid by the Brltlsh Air Force April 3rd and 4th,

1945 on the Boelcke Barracks in Nordhausen inhabited by concentration

camp detainees. After the occupation of the camp, the victims were lined

up, photographed and filmed by US troops, and then presented as proof

of a systematic German mass murder of the detainees in the
“documentary movie” Nazi Concentration and Prisoner-of-War Camps
which was submitted to the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg
as evidence.®

As a natural consequence of the history lessons taught in school as well
as the relentless media propaganda against revisionism we are all exposed
to, the psychological barrier with regard to the witness testimonies is a lot
stronger. If a revisionist points to evidently absurd eyewitness reports, for
instance that of Moshe Peer, who claimed that in Bergen-Belsen (where
according to the orthodox history no gas chamber existed) he survived no
less than six gassings (Seidman 1993), or that of Morris Hubert, who testi-
fied that, each day in Buchenwald, the Nazis had put a Jew into a cage con-
taining a bear and an eagle, after which the bear had eaten the Jew and the
eagle had minced his bones (Goldman 1988), the anti-revisionist usually
reacts disquietedly: Of course, he retorts, there will be swindlers among the

5 https://youtu.be/_pQJ420NPDo; from 24:20; cf. International Military Tribunal (in the fol-
lowing IMT), Document PS-2430: Nazi Concentration and Prisoner-of-War Camps: A Doc-
umentary Motion Picture, IMT, Volume 30, pp. 357f.; shown at the trial November 29, 1945,
IMT, Volume XXX, p. 470. The photo shown here is from the US National Archives, 1D
531259.
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Piecing A Family Back Together
Reunion Ends Years Of Wondering After The Holocaust

June 29, 1987 | By Jan Crawford.
o= R
Lucia Muller looked around the room & at her kin, each singing * *Sholom Alechem" " to bless the Sabbath, and cried.

Forty years ago, she thought her sister and an aunt were the only other members of her family to survive the Holocaust. This weekend, she
saw differently: About 130 cousins--from her generation to her

grandchild s--gathered in Chicago from around the world for a Mintz family reunion.
It was the first gathering for many of her relatives, scattered throughout the world by war and migration.

**I never believed that something like this could happen," " said Muller, who was freed in 1944 from a Nazi concentration camp in Belgium
and emigrated to Chicago six years later to join her aunt. * I never knew I had a big family, and after Mom and Dad were killed ... I don"t
think of enough words to tell what this means.**

Although Muller had met many of her clan before this weekend, they never had assembled as a group. But Friday night, they blessed the
Sabbath together in Glencoe. Saturday night, all celebrated at the Lincolnwood Hyatt Hotel. Sunday, there was a family pienic in Winnetka.

That difference--togetherness for the 130 people attending the Mintz family reunion--made it a time of hugs and tears, remembrances and
learning.

Amid the Chi Floridians and Californians at the reunion were family members from Tel Aviv, Paris and Sao Paulo, Brazil.

**In France, I thought it was just my father and me, " * said Helene Pomeranc, 41, of Paris. * T had the impression I had no family, no
relatives, then I get here.**

Pomeranc and many others who came to the reunion were contacted by Chicago artist Harry Mintz, whose immediate family also was killed
in the Holocaust. Mintz, who taught painting and drawing at the School of the Art Institute of Chicago from 1956 to 1969, began searching
for relatives more than 30 years ago, advertising in European newspapers and perusing thousands of telephone book pages. He met Muller
soon after she arrived in the United States in the 1950s.

in Israel who led him to other relatives in Brazil and France.

His efforts were first successful in 1976, when he discovered a co:

**Ilost my father, mother, everybody, " * said Mintz, 79, who survived the Holocaust because he had left Poland just before the war broke
out. *'Thad a deep psychological need to find whose roots are mine. I guess I must have had some survival guilt. But I had a need to fulfill
something in me."*

But Mintz doesn "t take credit for the family gathering, which took nearly two years to organize. * 'I didn 't even think this would take
place,**

he said. *"Because I located some family. a lot thought, *Let's do something." This was, perhaps, I feel, an inspiration because I found
people from different parts of the wi

Bob Mintz, the so-called * “family historian"* who worked closely with 10 other family members from Chicago to compile names of relatives,
chart the fa ee and organize the reunion, said his father instilled in him the desire to find kin.

But with this weekend 's gathering, the Mintz family has vowed to keep in touch, regrouping again in several years to reacquaint and meet
new additions. As Bob Mintz told his relatives Saturday night, the descendant chart " “will never be complete because we are always going to
add the names of new en that are born.**

**Hopefully," " he said, *"we will be adding names forever to the Mintz family.**

Image 3: Jan Crawford, “Piecing a Family Back together,” Chicago
Tribune, 20. June 1987;
http.//articles.chicagotribune.com/1987-06-29/news/8702170556_1_reunion-holocaust-family

witnesses; they are within every group of people, but that some witnesses
would have told lies, does not at all mean, that all witnesses would be liars
—and as is known, many thousands of those witnesses exist.

With their imputations, the anti-revisionist continues, the revisionists
are insulting people who have suffered immensely, and are in a certain
sense persecuting them for a second time. And anyway, it would have been
impossible for so many witnesses to portray the same events independent
of each other if these had not actually taken place. Those doubting the hon-
esty of these witnesses apparently acts on the assumption that they all lied
by order of a mysterious higher power. Yet this would be a classic example
of a crude conspiracy theory.


http://articles.chicagotribune.com/1987-06-29/news/8702170556_1_reunion-holocaust-family
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These argumentative patterns can be seen for instance in the way the
Swiss-Jewish historian Raphael Ben Nescher argues, who in his book
Holocaust-Revisionismus: Ideologie oder Wissenschaft (in which he makes
some no-less-than-sensational concessions to the revisionists, by the way;
see my retort Graf 2013) writes (Ben Nescher 2010, p. 218):

“First, they [the revisionists] deny that the Nazis had a plan (conspira-
cy), to kill the Jews. From the historians they demand incontestable
proof that such a plan existed. [...] The revisionists think that on the
one hand the Jews were capable of cajoling many thousands of witness-
es, survivors, victims and perpetrators to give false testimonies and to
have forged quite a few documents and images in order to produce an
enormous tissue of lies and to fool the whole world; on the other hand,
they [the Jew] are said to have been unable to forge a corresponding
order by Hitler.”

This might sound quite convincing to the layman, but it has the small dis-
advantage that it rests on false premises and is therefore worthless. Let me
discuss the following points:

The “Many Thousands of Witnesses, Survivors, Victims and Perpetrators”

No revisionist has ever claimed that the witnesses and survivors of the
concentration camps, of which there were indeed many thousands, had lied
throughout in all instances. It’s not about former concentration-camp de-
tainees in general, however, but about those who claim to have attended
homicidal gassings, and there weren’t “many thousands” of them, but quite
a small number. As far as their testimonies pertain to Auschwitz, the most
important of these witnesses are presented and quoted in this book.

The Imputation that “the Jews” Had Presumably Cajoled “Many
Thousands” of Witnesses to Be Untruthful

To a certain extent, Ben Nescher puts up a straw man here because no seri-
ous revisionist has ever suggested such an off-the-wall thesis. In the pre-
sent book, we will of course deal with the genesis of the gas-chamber sto-
ry, which is much more complex.

The “Many Thousands” of Documents and Photos Revisionists Supposedly
Classify as Forgeries

Manipulated photos do indeed exist in considerable numbers, as especially
Udo Walendy has shown (Walendy 2003), but there are only a handful of
documents pertaining to the Holocaust that were irrefutably revealed as
forgeries by revisionists. One of these, among others, is the bizarre Franke-
Gricksch Report about Auschwitz (cf. Section 3.4.), as well as three docu-
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ments about the gas vans allegedly used by the Germans (for this, see Al-
varez 2011). About some other documents, for instance the infamous
Himmler Speech in Posen of October 4, 1943, revisionist researchers sur-
mise that it is a falsified or at least manipulated document, but do not claim
this explicitly, because they can bring up only circumstantial evidence, but
no hard proof.

The Significance of Witness Testimonies in Orthodox
Holocaust Literature

In his introduction to the first edition of this book, publisher Gerhard
Forster wrote:

“The mark of Cain that the German people then [after the Second
World War] had been branded with, a crime unique in history, has not
disappeared to this day. The remembrance of it is kept visible daily by
the media, and in the Federal Republic of Germany any doubt of the
Holocaust is suppressed by laws that the defeated have imposed upon
themselves. But what is the almost generally accepted thesis of the
uniqueness of ‘Nazi crimes’ based on? In the first place on two court
decisions, namely the one by the International Military Tribunal in Nu-
remberg in 1945/1946, as well as the one of the Auschwitz Trial held in
Frankfurt from 1963 to 1965. [...] What do the judges rely on with their
guilty verdicts? Well, in the Nuremberg case very predominantly, and
with the trial at Frankfurt almost exclusively — on witness testimonies.
By these, the million-fold genocide of the Jews stands or falls, and with
that also the justification for the criminalization of a complete people
continued undiminished a half a century after the end of the war.”

Forster’s wording, saying that the Nuremberg Tribunal “very predominant-
ly” had relied on witness testimonies, could cause the erroneous impression
that the Nuremberg prosecutors had indeed produced some sort of docu-
mentary proof for an annihilation of Jews in extermination camps, but this
is not the case.

That the claims of homicidal gassings were explicitly based on witness
testimonies (perpetrator confessions included), is revealed by an attentive
reading of the edition of Raul Hilberg’s 1388-page canonical book The De-
struction of the European Jews. For his portrayal of the anti-Jewish policy
of the Third Reich as well as the deportations, Hilberg relied on an im-
mense number of German documents, so a fundamental objection to his
representation seems hardly possible in this regard. To the issue concerning
the unfolding of mass killings in extermination camps, however, Hilberg
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devotes only 19 (!) pages (Hilberg 2003, pp. 1027-1046), and on these
nineteen pages all of the source references about the extermination process
refer to witness testimonies and perpetrator confessions as well as to ver-
dicts at trials that in turn are totally based on witness testimonies and per-
petrator confessions (cf. Graf 2015). In other words: Forty years after the
end of the war, the orthodox Holocaust historians had still not been able to
locate even one single wartime document about homicidal gassings in a
single National-Socialist camp!

The Absence of Documentary Evidence of the Holocaust

In 1950, the French-Jewish historian Léon Poliakov published a book titled
Bréviaire de La Haine (English: Harvest of Hate), which was the first at-
tempt to present an overall view of the National-Socialist persecution of
Jews. It contains the following truly astounding sentences (Poliakov 1971,
p. 108):
“THE ARCHIVES OF THE THIRD REICH and the depositions and accounts
of its leaders make possible a reconstruction, down to the last detail, of
the origin and development of the plans for aggression, the military
campaigns, and the whole array of procedures by which the Nazis in-
tended to reshape the world to their liking. Only the campaign to ex-
terminate the Jews, as regards its conception as well as many other es-
sential aspects, remains shrouded in darkness. Inferences, psychologi-
cal considerations, and third- or fourth-hand reports enable us to re-
construct its development with considerable accuracy. Certain details,
however, must remain forever unknown. The three or four people chief-
ly involved in the actual drawing up of the plan for total extermination
are dead and no documents have survived; perhaps none ever existed. ”

With this, Poliakov implicitly conceded that the documents filed at the Nu-
remberg Trial as proof of the National-Socialist extermination of Jews
were in reality not conclusive. This also pertained to the protocol of the
Wannsee Conference of January 20, 1942° that for decades was presented
as Holocaust proof positive, though it contained nothing about a policy of
extermination of the Jews, let alone about extermination camps and gas
chambers.

The only half-way-serious attempt to documentarily prove the alleged
killings of Jews in gas chambers is by the French researcher Jean-Claude

®  Nuremberg Document NG-2586-G. On January 20, 1992 in the newspaper Canadian Jewish
News the Israeli Holocaust historian Yehuda Bauer dismissed the claim that at the Wannsee
Conference the extermination of the European Jews was decided, as a “silly story.”



18 AUSCHWITZ: EYEWITNESS REPORTS AND PERPETRATOR CONFESSIONS OF THE HOLOCAUST

Pressac. In 1989, he published an enormous opus titled Auschwitz: Opera-
tion and Technique of the Gas Chambers (Pressac 1989). It is of great val-
ue to any scientific analysis of the subject because it contains multiple pre-
viously unpublished documents about Auschwitz. Pressac honestly admit-
ted that he had not discovered absolute proof of the deployment of homici-
dal gas chambers, but he submitted “39 criminal traces.” By this he meant
“blunders” by the staff of the Auschwitz Camp’s Central Construction Of-
fice, who, despite the alleged strong prohibition to mention gassings, did
leave a few remarks about them here and there in their documents anyway.
Four years after that, a second, much-shorter Pressac book was published,
Les Crématoires d’Auschwitz (Pressac 1993), which was translated into
German a year later (Pressac 1994).

Although from a scientific point of view Pressac’s second book was a
clear step backwards from his first, the Western media celebrated it in a
concerted campaign as the definitive rebuttal of revisionism. In this book,
the number of “criminal traces” shrank from 39 to less than 10; to compen-
sate for this, Pressac presented a document found in a Moscow archive
about “gas detectors” which he saw as definitive proof of the existence of
homicidal gas chambers.’

Four revisionist authors — Robert Faurisson, Serge Thion, Germar Ru-
dolf and Carlo Mattogno — have critically analyzed Pressac’s assertions
(Faurisson 1991; Rudolf 2016b; Mattogno 2015). | don’t consider it neces-
sary to summarize their line of argumentation here, but in order to illustrate
the way Pressac argues, let one of his “criminal traces” be discussed here.

On March 31, 1943 Karl Bischoff of the Central Construction Office of
Auschwitz mentioned an order for a “gastight door with peephole.” For the

" On February 26, 1943, the Auschwitz Central Construction Office asked the Topf & Sohne
Company per telegram to deliver ten “gas detectors.” Four days later, in their reply letter of
March 2, 1943, the Topf Company wrote that already two weeks ago, in their search for “indi-
cating devices for hydrogen-cyanide residue,” they had asked five companies for them, of
which three had replied negatively and two had not answered yet. The expression “gas detec-
tor” is a short form of the technical term for “smoke gas detector”, with which the composi-
tion of exhaust gas of incineration plants is analyzed, not, however, the concentration of hy-
drogen cyanide. That jibes with the fact that the crematories in question altogether had ten
smoke ducts (flues), but allegedly only two gas chambers, and that in the order telegram as
well as in the reply letter by the Topf Company, the name, resp. the abbreviated signature, of
Rudolf Jéhrling had been entered, who in Auschwitz was responsible for all furnace equip-
ment, not, however, for the handling of toxic gasses. Additionally, the term “indicating devic-
es for residue of hydrogen cyanide” is wrong. Correct would be “gas-residue-detection devic-
es for Zyklon”, which are boxes containing certain chemical ingredients and indicator paper.
The Central Construction Office would have ordered them from the Auschwitz garrison phy-
sician, who was responsible for purchasing Zyklon B and the relating equipment, instead of
ordering them from the Topf Company, which did not produce or sell these devices. As the
availability of such test kits was required by law when deploying Zyklon B for disinfestation,
the garrison physician surely would have had them in stock. The whole correspondence is
therefore nonsensical and is under suspicion of being a forgery. For this, see Mattogno 2015,
pp. 93ff.
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layman this is an extraordinarily convincing proof of homicidal gassings —
for what, he will ask, did a delousing chamber need a peephole in the door?
The answer comes from the “Instructions for the Operation of a Hydrogen-
Cyanide Delousing Chamber” in Concentration Camp Mauthausen,® ac-
cording to which a person who works in the chamber had to be continuous-
ly observed by a second person in order for the latter to be able to rapidly
provide help in case of accidental poisoning. Ironically, Pressac himself
reproduced photos of several delousing-chamber doors equipped with
peepholes in his first book (Pressac 1989, pp. 425, 486, 500). Such “own
goals” made some revisionists think Pressac could have been a revisionist
double agent.

After the publication of his second book, Pressac criticized the orthodox
portrayal of the Holocaust with growing sharpness. In a 1995 interview
with the antirevisionist Valérie Igounet that was published five years later,
he stated (Igounet 2000, p. 657):

“The current view of the world of the [National Socialist] camps,
though triumphant, is doomed. What of it can be salvaged? Only little.”

In the face of such heresy, Pressac fell from grace. When he died in 2003 at
the age of only 59, the mass media, a decade earlier having celebrated him
as the conqueror of revisionism, reacted with frosty silence, and the only
obituaries were written by revisionists (see Graf/Mattogno/Rudolf).

Even among non-revisionist historians there were a few who were not
misled by the triumphant crowing of the coordinated mass media after the
publication of Pressac’s second book. On September 2 and 3, 1996, in the
western Swiss newspaper Le Nouveau Quotidien, the anti-revisionist
French historian and novelist Jacques Baynac published a two-part article
on the subject of revisionism, in which he offered the following critical
conclusion (Baynac 1996b):

“For the scientific historian, an assertion by a witness does not really
represent history. It is an object of history. And an assertion of one wit-
ness does not weigh heavily; assertions by many witnesses do not weigh
much more heavily, if they are not shored up with solid documentation.
The postulate of scientific historiography, one could say without great
exaggeration, reads: no paper/s, no facts proven[...].

Either one gives up the primacy of the archives, and in this case one
disqualifies history as a science in order to immediately reclassify it as
fiction; or one retains the primacy of the archive, and in this case one
must concede that the lack of traces brings with it the inability to prove
directly the existence of homicidal gas chambers.”

8 Offentliches Denkmal und Museum Mauthausen, Vienna, Archive M9a/1.
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In other words: 51 years after the end of the Second World War the “big-
gest crime in the history of mankind” still was not proven!

The complete absence of documentary proof for the existence of exter-
mination camps and gas chambers gave orthodox historiography quite a
headache from the start. As the prosecutors of the Third Reich could not
possibly be content with only witness testimonies, they used a trick already
at an early stage, characterized by Carlo Mattogno as follows (Mattogno
1991, pp. 64f1.):

“The Nuremberg inquisitors created an absurd interpretation method
which makes it possible to infer something from any document that it
does not contain. The starting point of this method of interpretation is
the — unfounded and arbitrary — axiom that, even in the most secret
documents, the Nazi authorities had used a kind of code language, the
keys of which the Nuremberg inquisitors naturally claimed to have dis-
covered. Thus took place the systematic misinterpretation of intrinsical-
ly harmless documents in support of the extermination thesis. ”

The best-known case of such arbitrary interpretation is the term “Final So-
lution of the Jewish Question”, denoted in unison by the court historians to
be synonymous with “physical extermination”, in spite of the fact that the
contemporary documents show that the “Final Solution” was of a territorial
nature. Here is one example. On June 24, 1940, Head of the Security Ser-
vice Reinhardt Heydrich wrote to Secretary of State Joachim Ribbentrop:®

“Since my office has taken over the task on 1 January 1939, more than
200,000 Jews have emigrated from the Reich’s territory so far. Howev-
er, the entire problem — we are already dealing with some 3.25 million
Jews in the area currently under German control — can no longer be
solved by emigration. Hence, a territorial solution becomes neces-
sary.” (My emphasis)

The Absence of Material Evidence for the Holocaust

Let us go back to Jacques Baynac for a moment. In his previously quoted
newspaper article, he wrote that, if one wants to continue to classify history
as a science, one has to admit “that the lack of traces brings with it the ina-
bility to prove directly the existence of homicidal gas chambers.” As his ar-
ticle shows, Baynac exclusively meant documentary proof when using the
word “traces.” Obviously, he did not at all realize that a far-more-difficult
problem exists with which orthodox Holocaust historiography has to wres-

9 Nuremberg Document NG-2586-G.
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tle — the absence of material evidence of the alleged million-fold killings of
Jews in “death camps.”

While in a pinch one might imagine it would have been possible to is-
sue only verbal orders to carry out murders, to consistently use code lan-
guage in documents and, in case it were not possible to operate without in-
criminating documents, to swiftly dispose of these documents before the
end of the war, the elimination of several millions of corpses would have
been a titanic task. According to Raul Hilberg, 1.25 million people per-
ished in Auschwitz — to limit ourselves to this camp — (“up to 1,000,000”
Jews plus 250,000 non-Jews; Hilberg 2003, p. 1320). In 1993, Franciszek
Piper, at that time the director of the Auschwitz Museum, postulated a
number of victims of 1.1 million (Piper 1993/1996). As over a million
corpses do not disappear by themselves, the mortal remains of those per-
ished in the camp must have been incinerated.

In order to justify their claim of approaching matters scientifically, or-
thodox Holocaust historiography should have pursued already many dec-
ades ago the question as to whether or not the crematories of Auschwitz
were at all capable of incinerating the claimed number of corpses in light
of their capacity and available amounts of fuel, and to what extent the
eyewitness reports about open-air incineration of corpses are plausible. On-
ly revisionist researchers — who in the jargon of the Western societies are
vilified as “right-wing extremist liars” — have undertaken these tasks.°

To the next point: At every common murder trial held in a country un-
der the rule of law, traces of the crime are investigated. This means that,
among other things, an expert report about the murder weapon is produced.
When someone has been stabbed, for instance, and the police find a blood-
stained knife in the vicinity of the crime scene, the forensic experts come
into action and examine whether fingerprints are on the knife handle,
whether the stab wounds of the victim match the blade of the knife, and if
the blood on the knife is that of the victim. But in the case of the “biggest
crime in human history”, the prosecutors of National-Socialist Germany as
well as the orthodox historians always made do with witness testimonies.
In the verdict of the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trial, the court unreservedly con-
ceded (Sagel-Grande et al. 1979, p. 434):

“The court lacked almost all possibilities of discovery available in a
normal murder trial to create a true picture of the actual event at the
time of the murder. It lacked the bodies of the victims, autopsy records,
expert reports on the cause of death and the time of death; it lacked any

10 The only attempt by orthodox historians worth mentioning in this regard is an article from
2011 by the present curator of the Auschwitz Museum, Piotr Setkiewicz, about the “Supply of
Materials to the Crematories and Gas Chambers in Auschwitz: Coke, Wood, Zyklon”, which
is characterized by a lamentable superficiality, however (cf. Mattogno 2019a).
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trace of the murderers, murder weapons, etc. An examination of the
eyewitness testimony was only possible in rare cases.”

Think about that! Regardless of the claims of the court, an “examination of
the eyewitness testimony” would have been possible in many instances.
But the judges weren’t interested in that as they were obliged to meet polit-
ical expectations.

As bogus proof of the claimed mass extermination, the Auschwitz Mu-
seum presents trembling visitors with piles of shoes and other utensils al-
legedly belonging to murdered detainees. Yet a pile of shoes merely proves
that at the spot in question, somebody has piled up shoes. With regard to
Concentration Camp Majdanek, where over decades also piles of shoes had
been presented as proof of the Holocaust, Polish historian Czestaw Rajca
wrote in 1992 (Rajca 1992, p. 192):

“It had been assumed that this [quantity of shoes] came from murdered
detainees. We know from documents that have later come to light that
there was, at Majdanek, a store which received shoes from other
camps.”

The Problematic Nature of the Witness Testimonies

In the 1994 anthology Grundlagen zur Zeitgeschichte (English: Dissecting
the Holocaust, Rudolf 2003b), a milestone in revisionist research, Germar
Rudolf, using the pen name Manfred Kohler, wrote (Kohler 2003, p. 85):

“In academia as well as in the justice system of a state under the rule of
law, there is a hierarchy of evidence reflecting the evidential value. In
this hierarchy, material and documentary evidence is always superior
to eyewitness testimony. ”

Let us illustrate this statement by means of two hypothetical examples.
First, we assume the police find the corpse of a murder victim, and two
persons claim to have seen how Mr. K. shot the victim dead. Traces that
indicate the presence of Mr. K at the crime scene are not found. When be-
ing questioned by the police, Mr. K. states that at the time of the crime he
had been in a hotel 800 kilometers away from the crime scene. Investiga-
tion shows that his presence in that hotel was indeed registered and that six
witnesses state having seen him there at the time of the crime.

In a country under the rule of law, and in view of these facts, Mr. K
would not be charged. This is not because there are three times the number
of witnesses for the defense than for the prosecution (this numeric aspect is
secondary), but because the hotel register proves that he was not at the
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crime scene at the moment of the crime. The documentary proof (the hotel
register) outweighs the witness proof (the testimonies of both claimed
eyewitnesses). The fact that they gave false testimony could for instance be
because they resented Mr. K. for some reason and therefore wanted him to
be accused of a crime. Of course, it is also possible that the real perpetrator
looked like Mr. K, and that the witnesses mixed up the two. In this case,
the false testimony had no malicious intent, but was a simple mistake.

Second example. Historians discover an old document in which a city is
described that until now has been completely unknown to historiography,
and that is said to have been located at a particular site. Excavations are
conducted but nothing is found. Because a complete city cannot disappear
without a trace, the historians will conclude that the city in question never
existed. That does not at all mean that the document in question has to be a
forgery. It could be altogether genuine, but in this case reflects not a histor-
ical fact but a legend.

In the same way as the first example illustrates the superiority of docu-
mentary proof versus witness evidence, the second demonstrates the supe-
riority of material evidence versus documentary proof. We could have any
amount of precise ancient-Egyptian paintings of the pyramids — if these
pyramids were located nowhere and not even remainders of them could be
found, such documents would be of no evidentiary value.

Now that we have seen that witness testimony is the weakest of all
proof, let us once more listen to Mr. Kohler (ibid., p. 86):

“While making no claims to completeness, the following lists a few cri-
teria for determining credibility:

a) Emotional involvement. If witnesses are emotionally too involved in
the cases under investigation, this may distort the testimony in one di-
rection or the other, without this necessarily being a conscious process.
b) Veracity. If it turns out that a witness is not overly concerned about
truthfulness, this casts doubts upon his further credibility.

¢) Testimony under coercion. The frankness of testimony may be limited
if a witness is subjected to direct or indirect pressure that makes him
deem it advisable to configure his testimony accordingly.

d) Third-party influence. A person’s memory is easy to manipulate.
Events reported by acquaintances or in the media can easily become
assimilated as ‘personal experience’. [...]

e) Temporal distance from the events to be attested to. It is generally
known that the reliability of eyewitness testimony diminishes greatly af-
ter only afew days [...].”
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Let us now apply each of Kohler’s five points to the actual case of the
Holocaust eyewitnesses.

Emotional Involvement

In the case at hand, it was the war hysteria, the atrocity propaganda lasting
for years and the ideological nature of the war that biased almost every
human. In such conditions, objective information is interpreted in an ex-
tremely biased way.

All human beings dislike uncertainty and insecurity. Our brain is a su-
percomputer that continually infills lacking information by inter- and ex-
trapolations. What we think to be a memory is in most cases based on very
few concrete data points and on quite a bit of interpretation that conscious-
ly as well as unconsciously is affected by our expectations and feelings —
hope, fear, anger, hate, love — (cf. Fraser 2012).

Out of fear of a poison-gas war, mixed with all kinds of fears and hyste-
ria evoked by atrocity propaganda, shower rooms of detainees with nearby
hydrogen-cyanide delousing chambers are imagined rapidly as homicidal
gas chambers, and in many-a-brain, rumors soon become certainty.

One-sided suggestion — and that is what the world has been experienc-
ing ever since the end of the war with regard to the Holocaust — while be-
ing under emotional stress is the main prerequisite for transforming our
memory, as Elizabeth Loftus has repeatedly proven (Loftus 1994, 1997,
2013).

Woe to the contemporary witness who does not remember the way so-
ciety expects! Social ostracism and societal exclusion, ruined career, phys-
ical attacks, material disadvantages and even prosecution are the possible
consequences. On the other hand, for every witness who remembers the
way he is expected to, approval or even fame and wealth await! There is no
subject that exerts a higher social and emotional pressure on witnesses than
the Holocaust.

Veracity

For the largest part the Auschwitz eyewitnesses were former Jewish de-
tainees, most of whom had not been incarcerated due to actual or alleged
crimes, but had been robbed of their belongings and deported solely on the
grounds of their descent. They had been forced to perform heavy manual
labor in torrid summer heat and bitter winter cold, had to witness how their
fellow sufferers were snatched away in droves by epidemics or died from
exhaustion, and possibly had to undergo grueling evacuations shortly be-
fore the end of the war. Under these conditions, it was almost inevitable
that an enormous hate of the SS and by extension of the Germans in gen-
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eral arose within many of them. Those of them who were allowed to testify
in court as witnesses for the prosecution after the war, now had the oppor-
tunity to avenge their oppressors by imputing to the SS defendants sitting
in the dock, in addition to misdeeds they may really have committed, far
worse actions in order to have them hanged or at least to get them behind
bars. Others who were not a witness for the prosecution, but who piped up
in books, newspaper articles or radio and television programs, generally
did their best to incriminate the Germans as permanently as possible, even
if by doing so the truth often fell by the wayside. This may have been mor-
ally objectionable, but it was humanly understandable.

(For fairness’s sake it must be pointed out that there were also Jewish
detainees who testified in favor of former SS men at the trials, and asserted
that they had behaved correctly and humanely. Such testimonies were un-
welcome for political reasons, however, and therefore mostly ignored by
the courts. Cf. Jordan, pp. 151f.)

A further possible motive for such witnesses was the craving for recog-
nition, the desire to have their 15 minutes of fame. In his late work Sources
of Holocaust Research, Raul Hilberg wrote (Hilberg 2001, p. 48; cf. Graf
2018, pp. 147-166):

“The abstainers [survivors refusing to testify] might have harmed other
victims. They could have shied away from recalling instances of weak-
ness, helplessness, or humiliation. Alternatively they could have con-
cluded that they did not have enough to say if they had not been in
Auschwitz for some time, or if they had not jumped from a moving train,
or if they had not joined a partisan unit in the woods. ”

In plain language: There were plenty of motives not to tell the truth. Re-
grettably, however, Hilberg did not conclude from this that the witness tes-
timonies in general needed to be approached with prudence. He willingly
accepted any ever-so-foolish eyewitness report, if it supported his thesis
(cf. Graf 2015 in general).

In 1975, a group of English cremation experts investigated the required
minimal duration with regard to the incineration of the corpse of an adult in
a muffle. On average, this is 63 minutes (Jones 1975). Let us now compare
this empirically hardened figure to the testimony of the Slovak Jew and
former Auschwitz detainee Dov Paisikovic, who as a member of the
Sonderkommando claims to have taken part in the incineration of the
corpses of gassed people in Crematory Il of Auschwitz-Birkenau (Poliakov
1964, p. 162):

“Cremating a corpse lasts roughly four minutes. ”
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The cremation duration quoted by Poliakov is therefore approximately fif-
teen times less than the actual duration. This cannot be called an “error” or
“exaggeration”; Paisikovic has lied through his teeth. The reason for this
was of course to make credible the claim of an enormously large number of
corpses of gassed people having been incinerated in a very short time. Such
a flagrant lie disqualifies an eyewitness from the start. Even if Paisikovic’s
other testimonies seemed plausible, he would not be a credible witness. His
report about Auschwitz, however, contains numerous other absurdities in
addition to the absurdity mentioned above (cf. Section 2.13.). For habitual
liars, one false claim is not enough.

Testimony under Coercion

Especially during the early Holocaust trials, it was possible not only to ex-
ert pressure on the defendants but also on the witnesses so that they would
express themselves the way the prosecution desired. (That many witnesses
were very eager to confirm the exaggerations and falsehoods expected of
them, is a different kettle of fish.)

On May 24, 1945, the Polish Jew and erstwhile Sonderkommando man
Henryk Tauber stated during a questioning by the Polish judicial authori-
ties that the number of Auschwitz victims amounts to four million.* Apart
from the fact that Tauber, as a detainee, hardly had any access to the rec-
ords and statistics of the camp administration, and therefore could not have
known the total number of victims in Auschwitz, his figure is almost four
times as high as the figure of 1.1 million currently mentioned in Poland
(which, as we will see later, is still exaggerated by approximately a factor
of seven).

A look at the historical context explains Tauber’s grotesque exaggera-
tion. Two and a half weeks earlier, on May 7, 1945, Pravda had published
a Soviet Committee report in Moscow saying that four million people had
perished."? 1t’s therefore quite obvious that Tauber had been instructed be-
fore his questioning which figure he was required to mention.

Third-Party Influence

Various witnesses claim that three corpses were incinerated at the same
time within 20 minutes in a single muffle of the crematories of Auschwitz.
This claim can also be found in the notes of the first Auschwitz comman-
dant, Rudolf Héss, made in 1946 while in Krakow Prison (cf. Section 3.1.).

Since the incineration of a single adult corpse in a muffle takes approx-
imately an hour, the respective witnesses exaggerate the capacity of the

11 Records of the Hoss Trial, Warsaw, Volume 11, p. 130.
2“0 gy gOBMIIHEIX MPECTYIIEHHAX TEPMAHCKOTO TIpaBuTeNscTBa B OcBeHrmMe” (About the
Horrendous Crimes of the German Government in Auschwitz), Prawda, May 7, 1945.




AUSCHWITZ: EYEWITNESS REPORTS AND PERPETRATOR CONFESSIONS OF THE HOLOCAUST 27

crematories by a factor of nine. It can hardly be assumed that various wit-
nesses conjured up the same impossibility independent of each other. A
common source must therefore exist from which these fallacious state-
ments originated. Such a source indeed exists in the form of the witness
Szlama Dragon, who made the following statement before a Polish com-
mittee in May 1945 (cf. Section 2.11.):

“After we had dragged the bodies to the furnace, we put three of them
on an iron stretcher, the first corpse headfirst, the second reversed, and
the third again like the first one. We pushed the stretcher on rollers in-
stalled there into the furnace opening. In doing so, two prisoners
pushed the stretcher from behind, while a third pulled them at the front.
When the stretcher had been pushed into the furnace opening, it dipped
downward, and the bodies fell onto the grate. Then we pulled out the
stretcher again and closed the furnace opening. Then we filled another
furnace. The cremation lasted 15 to 20 minutes. Then new bodies came
into the furnaces.”

From this it follows that all witnesses who made the same fallacious claim
got their “knowledge” either directly or indirectly — via third parties — from
Szlama Dragon. The fact that Hoss, who of course knew very well the real
capacity of the crematories of Auschwitz, put the same nonsense on paper
in Krakow Prison, can only be explained by his dungeon masters having
dictated these data to him in order to give the fanciful tales about millions
of gassed and incinerated Jews an appearance of credibility.

Temporal Distance from the Events to Be Attested to

Because the human capacity of remembering becomes increasingly weaker
with the passage of time, as Manfred Kohler states, it follows that witness
testimonies given immediately after the liberation of the Auschwitz Camp
are the most important ones, because at that time the memory of the wit-
nesses was still clear. The more time that went by between the portrayed
events and the testimony of the witness, the less conclusive this testimony
became — not only because human memory becomes increasingly unrelia-
ble as time passes, but also because with every year that goes by the danger
grows that the memory of the witness in question gets influenced by books,
newspaper articles or movies about the subject in question, and he then
confuses these representations with his own experience. This means that
witness testimonies about the Holocaust given decades after the end of the
war are generally of no historical value. A historiography that relies upon
such testimonies has lost all claims of being scholarly in nature. Likewise,
a judiciary that sentences people on the basis of such testimonies, decades
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after the respective events, violates elementary principles of justice. The
declarations of former detainees who several decades after the war testified
during trials against former SS men are therefore already suspect from the
start and bear little probative value.

* k%

When analyzing eyewitness reports, we will frequently examine the re-
spective testimonies as to their internal as well as to their external plausi-
bility. Here also, we can rely on Manfred Kohler, who lets the assessment
of a witness testimony depend on “internal conclusiveness”, the “correct-
ness of the historical context” as well as on consistency with “technical and
natural scientific reality”, and defines these terms as follows (Kohler 2003,
p. 86):

“a) Internal consistency. Testimony must be free of contradictions and

in accordance with the rules of logic.

b) Correctness of historical context. Testimony must fit into the histori-

cal context established conclusively by higher forms of evidence (docu-

ments, material evidence).

¢) Technical and scientific reality. Testimony must report such matters

as can be reconciled with the laws of nature and with what was techni-

cally possible at the time in question. ”

Let us illustrate this statement by means of two testimonies of Auschwitz
witnesses. First with a report that, to express it with Kéhler’s words, cannot
“be reconciled with the laws of nature and with what was technically pos-
sible at the time in question.” Moshe Maurice Garbarz, who is seen as one
of the witness of the alleged murder actions performed in two farmhouses
located outside the Auschwitz-Birkenau Camp (the “Bunkers”), claimed
that, in the vicinity of one of these houses, a unit of detainees had dug out a
“swimming pool” (meaning: a mass grave) with a length of 50 to 60 m, a
width of 20 to 30 m and a depth of 1.5 m in just one single night. In the
face of the fact that this inmate unit in no way had any motorized excava-
tors at its disposal, but merely shovels and mattocks, this is a radical tech-
nical impossibility (cf. Section 2.16.). Garbarz’s testimony is already com-
pletely incredible on the grounds of this physical impossibility; the conclu-
siveness of such an eyewitness report is equal to zero. This would be that
way even if the rest of the report were consistent — which it is absolutely
not, however. As already seen in the case of Dov Paisikovic, here as well it
seems that, for a witness who expresses one blatantly obvious technical ab-
surdity, one such absurdity doesn’t seem to ever be enough.

An incidental remark imposes itself here. Opponents of revisionism of-
ten accuse revisionist of worshipping the basic principle “falsus in uno,
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falsus in omnibus” (false in one thing, false in everything) and that they
would exploit discrepancies in testimonies in order to discredit all witness-
es in general. This allegation holds no water, though.

If a former concentration-camp inmate declares to have been transferred
in October 1942 together with 1,000 other detainees from Camp A to
Camp B although the documents show that the respective transfer hap-
pened in November 1942, no serious revisionist will doubt the entire testi-
mony of this witness for just that reason. Such small errors can be easily
explained by the imprecision of the human memory. However, if the doc-
uments clearly say that there was no transfer of detainees from Camp A to
Camp B at all in the whole of 1942, then this heavily shakes the credibility
of the witness in question, and his other testimonies need to be approached
with due caution. Lastly, completely untrustworthy are witnesses such as
Paisikovic or Garbarz, who advance radical technical or physical impossi-
bilities, to be recognized as such on first sight. For these the motto “falsus
in uno, falsus in omnibus” is valid without restriction.

As a second example consider a case of the lack of “correctness of his-
torical context.” In his notes from Krakow Prison, Rudolf Hiss wrote that
the SS had prepared to receive and to eliminate two and a half million Bul-
garian Jews in Auschwitz (Bezwinska/Czech 1984, p. 137). The number of
Jews living in Bulgaria at that time was approximately 50,000; not one of
them perished in Auschwitz (Benz 1991, p. 308). Hoss could not have
been mixing up Bulgaria with Romania or Hungary, because he mentions
these two countries in the same context, and had increased the number of
Jews living there also by large margins, although not to such extremes.

On its own, this obvious discrepancy would not yet have been sufficient
reason to undermine the credibility of the contents of HOss’s extensive “au-
tobiographical notes.” If these were consistent otherwise and in accordance
with proven historical facts, one could shrug off the “two and a half million
Bulgarian Jews” as an inexplicable anomaly. Fact is, however, that the
“notes” abound with inconsistencies, as we will see when analyzing them.

Let us now deal with one more allegation that has been raised frequent-
ly against revisionists and their way of dealing with witness testimonies.
The French-Jewish author Georges Wellers expressed it in 1979 as follows
(Wellers 1979, cited by Reynouard 2012):

“[Paul] Rassinier [French historian and founder of revisionism] and his
imitators use very simple and very practical working rules. The first is
to classify all more or less inconvenient testimonies as unreliable under
two pretenses. If the testimonies agree, they are declared worthless ei-
ther because they are the result of collusion agreed upon by witnesses
due to common interests, or because they were coerced by torture or
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promises. However, if the testimonies are contradictory, their origina-
tors are declared to be obvious liars.”

This is simply untrue. If two witness testimonies are congruent, this is far
from being a reason for revisionists to declare these testimonies the result
of collusion or — in the case of perpetrator confessions — of torture or prom-
ises of a lenient treatment. (This is true at least for serious revisionists; we
need not bother with the dubious ones who inevitably also exist). Revision-
ists will do this only if the respective witness testimonies contain radical
impossibilities visible on first sight, i.e. testimonies that contradict logic or
the laws of nature, or are in glaring conflict with the historical context. One
example of this is the already-mentioned eyewitness reports crediting the
crematories with a capacity many times their actual capacity. If two wit-
ness testimonies are incongruent, revisionists will in no way sweepingly
call their originators liars. If the contradictions are so slight that they can
easily be explained by the unreliability of the human memory, then no se-
rious problem exists. If the differences are insurmountable, however, then
at least one of the witnesses either lied or made a serious mistake and by
that he’s untrustworthy. Revisionists will only claim that both witnesses
are untrustworthy if they have demonstrated that the testimonies of both
witnesses contain evident impossibilities.

Here is an instructive example of this. With regard to the “first gassing
in Auschwitz” claimed by orthodox historiography, the purpose of which
allegedly was the testing of the suitability of Zyklon B for murdering peo-
ple, the victims of which allegedly were Russian POWSs, the witnesses con-
tradict each other already regarding the date of the event. SS Second Lieu-
tenant Henry Storch dated it to spring 1941, the former detainee Kula to
August 1941, SS Second Lieutenant Maximilian Grabner to the beginning
of 1942, SS Captain Hans Aumeier to November or December 1942 (for
sources, see Mattogno 2016a). Current mainstream historiography, relying
on Danuta Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle, claims the first gassing took place
from September 3 to September 5, 1941 (Czech 1990, pp. 85-87). If this is
correct, then all witnesses who stated dates different from this one have ei-
ther been mistaken (which in the case of Kula, who mentioned August
1941, could appear somewhat plausible, because September can easily be
confused with August) or lied (how can somebody who in late summer had
been witness of such a dramatic event that must have indelibly stayed in
his memory, move this to the winter?).

Doubts about the reality of the claimed test gassing get stronger when one
discovers that the witnesses glaringly contradict each other also with re-
gard to two further fundamental questions — the duration of the killing pro-
cess and the discoloration of the corpses after the gassing. According to the
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first Auschwitz commandant Rudolf Hass, the death struggle of the victims
lasted only a few moments; according to witness Michat Kula, 15 hours or
more. The corpses of the gassed people had become (for sources, see Mat-
togno 2016a):

— discolored greenish according to M. Kulg;

— discolored blue respectively blueish according to former detainee Wol-

ny and SS Sergeant Pery Broad;

— discolored violet-black according to former detainee Kielar;

— ghostly pale according to former detainee Zarembina.
The fact is, however, that victims of hydrogen-cyanide poisonings almost
always show a red discoloration — and not one of the witnesses mentioned
this color.

If we find out that in September 1941, the date named by orthodox his-
toriography, there were no Soviet POWs at all detained in Auschwitz, and
that the first ones only arrived in October of the same year (ibid.), one can
in good conscience categorize the “first gassing” as an invention of atrocity
propaganda, and assume that the witnesses on the “perpetrator side,” such
as Storch, Aumeier and Grabner, have given their testimonies under duress.
This offers a plausible explanation for the countless glaring inconsistencies
among the witness testimonies — one truly cannot expect coerced “perpe-
trators” and self-appointed “eyewitnesses” to consistently reconstruct an
event that never happened!

The Problematic Nature of Perpetrator Confessions

As the just-mentioned cases of the SS men Storch, Aumeier and Grabner,
who were stationed in Auschwitz, show, demonstrable cases exist in which
alleged “Holocaust perpetrators” reported fictitious atrocities. That they did
not do this out of a masochistic desire for the gallows or prison, will be
easy to comprehend — they did so under coercion. Here is a reference to the
historical context.

Parallel to the Nuremberg Trial, the Americans and the British held a
large number of trials against Germans during which again and again brutal
torture was employed. As a US committee revealed later, the torturers had
extorted confessions by floggings, pulling out of fingernails, knocking out
teeth, squashing of testicles and other bestialities (van Roden 1949). Josef
Kramer, former commandant of various concentration camps, as well as
other SS people were tortured by the British to such an extent that they
begged for a speedy death (Belgion 1949, pp. 80f., 90). In March 1946 the
first Auschwitz commandant Rudolf Hoss was tracked down by a British
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torture team, and after a three-day flogging orgy confessed that in Ausch-
witz, under his command until the end of November 1943, two and a half
million Jews had been gassed and a further 500,000 had died of starvation
and diseases (cf. Section 3.1.; as mentioned, the present orthodox histori-
ography of the camp claims a little over a million victims.)

Not all German “Holocaust perpetrators” confessed under torture; there
were also more-subtle methods. A classic example of the implementation
of such is the case of the physician Dr. Johann Paul Kremer, who was sta-
tioned in Auschwitz from August 30 to November 18, 1942 and kept a dia-
ry, of which some sequences were interpreted as veiled references to gas-
sing actions. A careful analysis of these lines shows, however, that he was
describing the horrors of the typhus epidemic raging at that time in Ausch-
witz (cf. Section 3.3.).

In 1947 during the Krakow Trial against former members of the Ausch-
witz camp crew, Kremer was a defendant and confirmed that in the respec-
tive diary entries he had indeed reported homicidal gassings. Together with
21 other defendants, Kremer was sentenced to death, but later, as one of
only two of the convicts, he was pardoned. In 1958, he was released to
West Germany. There he was put on trial once more, and again he inter-
preted his diary in the desired way. He was sentenced to ten years of pris-
on, but he did not have to serve them, as the term was considered served
due to the prison time he had already spent in Poland.

All speaks in favor of the assumption that, with his interpretation of his
diary, Kremer had bought his life in Krakow, and also in Germany he
played the prosecutors’ tune in order not to receive a severe sentence as an
“obdurate denier” and to have to spend his last years behind bars.

Very similar devices were applied in West Germany where of course
there was no torturing. In order to comprehend why almost all of the SS
men indicted as former staff of the “extermination camps” admitted to, or
at least did not explicitly contest, the actions they were accused of at these
trials, one has to consider the following:

For murder, that is, the killing of a human being out of lowly motives,
West-German law demanded and still demands life imprisonment. If a de-
fendant at a Holocaust trial were to show the court in a credible way that he
merely had been following orders in order to avoid otherwise unavoidable
heavy sanctions, he could hope not to be sentenced for murder but only for
wrongful death or for manslaughter, or even merely for aiding such deeds,
and hence be sentenced to only a limited time in prison. Because the courts
refused to address the question as to whether or not the alleged mass mur-
ders in gas chambers in the respective camps had happened at all, but in
every instance axiomatically assumed them to be facts and merely judged
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the individual guilt of the “perpetrators”, a defendant who contested these
murders would have gotten into dire straits and risked being harshly pun-
ished as an “obdurate denier.” There never was a lack of witnesses who
were eager to see him behind bars, possibly for a long time, preferably for-
ever. As no former concentration-camp detainee was ever prosecuted for
perjury, the witnesses could incriminate at will any defendants they didn’t
like with trumped-up allegations. Whether the judges rated these witnesses
to be credible was up to them (as long as they were not under political
pressure to sentence at least the one or the other defendant for murder). But
even a negative assessment of credibility never had any repercussions for
the respective witness.

This desperate tactic, employed by practically all of the former SS
members who stood trial, often paid off. At the Sobibor trial in Hagen
(1965/1966), for instance, five defendants who were all accused of com-
plicity in murder in 15,000 to 79,000 cases, were sentenced strangely mild-
ly compared to the weight of the allegations: to between four and eight
years, and Erich Lachmann, accused of complicity in the murder of at least
150,000 people, was even acquitted (Graf/Kues/Mattogno 2016, pp. 182-
188).

A particularly glaring example of the mechanisms of German trials
against National Socialism was provided by the repulsive man-hunt against
the nonagenarian former Auschwitz guard Jakob W., at that time 91 years
of age, although the case was shelved in 2014 by the Stuttgart district at-
torney. “He wants to talk anyway”, gloated the German newsmagazine Der
Spiegel in its edition of August 25, 2014, and quoted the unfortunate geri-
atric as follows (Bohr/Meyer/Wiegrefe, p. 37):

“From 1944 onward, the crematories couldn’t cope anymore. Right
next to it was a water ditch, it was maybe three or four meters wide. It
burned day and night in there, in the pit. Two men always had kind of
loops in their hands; with them they then pulled them (the corpses — ed.)
out of the gas chamber, removed the loops and threw them into the
burning fire.”

So, the SS burned corpses in a water ditch. With high probability the deci-
sion of the Stuttgart district attorney to discontinue the trial against Jakob
W. was the reward for having done his bit at shoring up the orthodox view
of Auschwitz, and with that he had contributed to the traumatization of the
Germans.



34 AUSCHWITZ: EYEWITNESS REPORTS AND PERPETRATOR CONFESSIONS OF THE HOLOCAUST

The False Witness Testimonies as Acknowledged by the
Orthodoxy

Those not familiar with the revisionist literature about the Holocaust can-
not possibly know that the currently accepted version, according to which
the extermination of Jews was allegedly conducted in six death camps by
means of toxic gas, had numerous competitors during the war and also in
the time immediately after the war.

From the fall 1941 until the spring of 1944, the Polish resistance
movement spread altogether 32 reports about Auschwitz, wherein the camp
was portrayed as a place of mass murder, although Jews were only one of
several victim categories. The pesticide Zyklon-B was never mentioned as
a murder weapon, but all kinds of imaginative murder weapons such as
“electric baths”, a “pneumatic hammer” and an imaginary gas called
“Kreuzolit” (cf. Section 2.1.).

After the Red Army had captured Auschwitz on January 27, 1945, So-
viet journalists visited the camp and interviewed several of the 4,299 de-
tainees left behind by the SS due to these detainees being unfit to walk
long distances.*®* On February 2, an article by the Jewish war correspondent
Boris Polevoi was published in Pravda titled “The Death Combine in
Auschwitz,” in which one could read astounding things (Polevoi 1945):

“When the Red Army unveiled the terrible and disgusting secrets of
Majdanek to the world last year, the Germans began to erase the traces
of their crimes in Auschwitz. They leveled the hill of the so-called ‘old’
tombs in the eastern part, blew up and destroyed the tracks of the elec-
trical conveyor belt on which hundreds of inmates had been simultane-
ously electrocuted; the bodies were loaded onto a slow-moving convey-
or belt, which led them to a shaft furnace where they were completely
burned. [...] The special mobile devices for killing children were taken
to the hinterland. The stationary gas chambers in the eastern part of the
camp had been converted. Turrets and architectural ornaments had
been attached to them, making them look like innocent garages. ”

With this article, the world heard of the “electrical conveyor belt on which
hundreds of inmates had been simultaneously electrocuted,” the “slow-
moving conveyor belt” that transported the corpses “to a shaft furnace” and
the “special mobile devices for Kkilling children” for the very first and very
last time. These products of a deformed fantasy forthwith became a relic of
history. Additionally, the present-day historiography claims that the gas
chambers were not situated in the eastern part but in the western part of the

13 The number of 4,299 detainees left behind in Auschwitz originates from a Soviet document of
March 9, 1945. National Archive of the Russian Federation, Moscow, 7021-108-10.
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Birkenau Camp that in itself was located west of the Main Camp. That they
had been adorned with “turrets and architectural ornaments”, nobody other
than Polevoi reported. Why did Comrade Polevoi serve up imaginary
atrocities to his Pravda readers, while he had a week-long opportunity to
get informed by the liberated detainees about the real atrocity of Ausch-
witz? And why did the SS, who according to the findings of our historians
had previously gassed approximately a million Jews in Auschwitz, leave
behind 4,299 mainly Jewish detainees as witnesses for the prosecution
against themselves before departing? In view of a million murders, 4,299
more murders wouldn’t have mattered at all! — Orthodox Holocaust histo-
rians avoid such questions like the plague.

Let us now address the camps Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka in eastern
Poland, that according to orthodox Holocaust literature were pure extermi-
nation camps. According to the currently prevailing version of history,
mass murder of Jews was conducted there by means of engine-exhaust
fumes, but during the war completely different stories were told about
these camps. For Belzec, the killing method most frequently claimed was
electric current. A certain Dr. Phil. Stefan Szende described the extermina-
tion process in Belzec this way (Szende 1945, pp. 160f.):

“The trains coming into Belzec loaded with Jews were driven into a
tunnel in the underground premises of the execution building. [...]
When trainloads of naked Jews arrived, they were herded into a great
hall capable of holding several thousand people. This hall had no win-
dows and its flooring was of metal. Once the Jews were all inside, the
floor of this hall sank like a lift into a great tank of water which lay be-
low it until the Jews were up to their waists in water. Then a powerful
electric current was sent into the metal flooring and within a few sec-
onds all the Jews, thousands at a time, were dead.

The metal flooring then rose again and the water drained away. The
corpses of the slaughtered Jews were now heaped all over the floor. A
different current was then switched on and the metal flooring rapidly
became red hot, so that the corpses were incinerated as in a crematori-
um and only ash was left.

The floor was then tipped up and the ashes slid out into prepared recep-
tacles. The smoke of the process was carried away by great factory
chimneys. That was the whole procedure. As soon as it was completed,
it could start up again. New batches of Jews were constantly being
driven into the tunnels. The individual trains brought between 3,000
and 5,000 Jews at a time, and there were days on which the Belzec line
saw between twenty and thirty such trains arrive.
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Modern technology triumphed in the Nazi system. The problem of how
to exterminate millions of people was solved.”

According to another Belzec witness, the non-Jewish Pole Jan Karski, the
Jews in this camp were corralled into railroad cars whose floors were cov-
ered with quicklime. This devoured the flesh off of the bones of the unfor-
tunate while still alive (Karski 1944, pp. 339ff.).

About Sobibor: The Soviet-Jewish officer and Sobibor detainee Alex-
ander Pechersky described the extermination of the Jews in that camp with
reference to an anonymous witness as follows (Pechersky 1967, p. 20):

“At first glance, everything looks as a bath should look — faucets for hot
and cold water, basins to wash in... As soon as the people enter, the
doors are clamped shut. A thick dark substance comes spiralling out
from vents in the ceiling. Horrible shrieks are heard, but they dont last
long.”

Two other Sobibor key witnesses, Leon Feldhendler and Zelda Metz, men-
tioned chlorine as the killing agent. According to Metz, the death chamber
had a collapsible floor through which the corpses fell into a train wagon
(Blumenthal 1946, pp. 199ff.).

Even more revealing is the Treblinka case. On November 15, 1942, the
resistance movement of the Warsaw ghetto published a report about this
camp according to which, within barely four months of its existence, two
million Jews were said to have been asphyxiated by hot steam (Marczews-
ka/Wazniewski 1968):

“At the entrance of death-house No.1 the chief himself stands, a whip in
his hand; beating them in cold blood, he drives the women into the
chambers. The floors of the chambers are slippery. The victims slip and
fall, and they cannot get up for new numbers of forcibly driven victims
fall upon them. The chief throws small children into the chambers over
the heads of the women. When the execution chambers are filled the
doors are hermetically closed and the slow suffocation of living people
begins, brought about by the steam issuing from the numerous vents in
the pipes.”
After the Red Army in August 1944 had conquered the area around Tre-
blinka, a Soviet committee questioned former inmates of the camp. They
concluded that three million people had been murdered in Treblinka by
corralling them into chambers, then pumping out the air. In September
1944, the Soviet-Jewish author Vasili Grossman dignified Treblinka with a
visit. To be on the safe side, since he did not know which one of the three
killing methods mentioned by the witnesses (steam, pumping out of air,
gas) would prevail, he described all three in his book Die Hélle von Tre-
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blinka (The Hell of Treblinka; Grossman 1946). At the Nuremberg Trial
the Soviet prosecutors chose the steam-chamber version and published a
bulletin which said that several hundred thousand people had been mur-
dered by steam in Treblinka (PS-3311, IMT, Vol. 32, pp. 153-158).

The conversion to the present-day version of Belzec, Sobibor and Tre-
blinka happened in 1946 by the Polish “Main Commission for the Investi-
gation of German Crimes in Poland”, that was renamed later to “Main
Commission for the Investigation of Hitlerite Crimes in Poland” out of
consideration for Communist East Germany. The committee reduced the
formerly peddled, all-too-incredible number of victims (600,000 instead of
1.8 to 3 million for Belzec; 250,000 instead of 1 to 2 million for Sobibor;
900,000 instead of 3 million for Treblinka). Because the idea that the Ger-
mans would have deployed a multitude of wildly divergent murder meth-
ods in their camps was also not very credible, all Killing techniques de-
scribed by the early witnesses were consigned to an Orwellian memory
hole and replaced by engine-exhaust gas chambers (for this, see Mat-
togno/Graf 2016; Mattogno 2016i; Graf/Kues/Mattogno 2016).

Let us lastly turn to the question of the gas chambers in the western
camps. At the Nuremberg Trial the British chief prosecutor Sir Hartley
Shawcross had the following recorded:**

“Murder conducted like some mass production industry in the gas
chambers and the ovens of Auschwitz, Dachau, Treblinka, Buchenwald,
Mauthausen, Maidanek, and Oranienburg.”

Hence, Shawcross did not distinguish, as current orthodox Holocaust histo-
riography does, between “extermination camps” (Auschwitz, Treblinka,
Majdanek) and ordinary “concentration camps” (Dachau, Buchenwald,
Mauthausen, Oranienburg-Sachsenhausen), but regarded all these camps as
part of a gigantic murder machine. Indeed, for each of these camps there
were witnesses who declared the existence of homicidal gas chambers. At
the Nuremberg Trial, the former Czech Dachau inmate Dr. Franz Blaha
testified under oath:*

“The gas chamber was completed in 1944, and | was called by Dr.
Rascher to examine the first victims. Of the eight or nine persons in the
chamber there were three still alive, and the remainder appeared to be
dead. Their eyes were red, and their faces were swollen. Many prison-
ers were later killed in this way. ”

About the gas chamber in Buchenwald, an official document compiled by
the French government stated (Weber 1986, p. 411):

4 International Military Tribunal (subsequently IMT), Volume XI1X, p. 434.
15 IMT, Volume V, pp. 172f.
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“Everything had been provided for down to the smallest detail. In 1944,
at Buchenwald, they had even lengthened a railway line so that the de-
portees might be led directly to the gas chamber. Certain [of the gas
chambers] had a floor that tipped and immediately directed the bodies
into the room with the crematory oven.”

There was also no lack of perpetrator testimonies. Franz Ziereis, com-
mander of Mauthausen, who was wounded by two shots in the stomach
during the liberation of the camp, confessed on his deathbed, while he was
allowed helplessly to bleed to death, that in Hartheim Castle near Linz one
to one-and-a-half million people had been gassed (Wiesenthal 1946, pp.
7f.):
“SS-Gruppenfihrer Gliicks had given the order to declare weak in-
mates insane and to murder them in a large facility with gas. Some 1 to
1.5 million were murdered there. The place is called Hartheim and is
located 10 km away from Linz toward Passau.”

Statements such as this are so embarrassing to orthodox Holocaust histori-
ans that they hush them up where possible. A critical reader could other-
wise get the idea to ask why the Hdss confession about the gassing of two
and a half million Jews in Auschwitz should be more credible than the
Ziereis confession about the gassing of one to one and-a-half million Jews
in Hartheim Castle.

In August 1960 the then-employee and later head of the Munich Insti-
tute for Contemporary History, Martin Broszat, wrote in a letter to the edi-
tor of the weekly newspaper Die Zeit (Broszat 1960):

“Neither in Dachau nor in Bergen-Belsen nor in Buchenwald were
Jews or other prisoners gassed. [...] The mass extermination of the
Jews by gassing began in 1941/1942 and took place exclusively at a se-
lect few locations equipped with the requisite technical facilities, above
all in the occupied Polish territory (but nowhere in the Reich proper):
in Auschwitz-Birkenau, in Sobibor on the Bug, in Treblinka, Chelmno,
and Belzec.”

By “Reich proper,” the German State of its borders of 1937 is to be under-
stood.

An analysis of these contorted statements results in the following:

As to three camps (Dachau, Bergen-Belsen, Buchenwald), Broszat ex-
plicitly states that there never had been gassings at all. For the other con-
centration camps located in the Reich proper such as Sachsenhausen, Neu-
engamme or Ravensbriick, Broszat in fact rules out mass gassings (accord-
ing to him these only took place in Auschwitz, Chelmno, Belzec, Sobibor
and Treblinka; that he did not mention the sixth “extermination camp”,
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Majdanek, in his letter to the editor, could be due to a mere slip-up), but
not gassings on a smaller scale. The same goes for the camps Natzweiler
(Alsace) and Mauthausen (Austria) that were not located within the territo-
ry of the Reich proper

The orthodox historians have never agreed on the existence of gas
chambers in the western camps. While Raul Hilberg pragmatically decided
to do without these small gas chambers and did not mention them in his de-
finitive book The Destruction of the European Jews,® the 2011 anthology
Neue Studien zu nationalsozialistischen Massent6tungen durch Giftgas
(New Studies on National Socialist Mass Killings with Poison Gas) tena-
ciously holds onto them, although they would not at all be needed to main-
tain the orthodox Holocaust narrative in view of the low numbers of vic-
tims claimed (in total a couple of thousand; Morsch/Perz 2011). Carlo Mat-
togno has responded in great detail to this anthology (Mattogno 2016h).

Lastly, let us bring to mind the memoirs of supposed National-Socialist
victims which have been acknowledged to be forgeries in the meantime,
but which were praised for years by a reverent media pack as shocking tes-
timonies of the Holocaust. The one that attained particularly deplorable
fame is the concoction Bruchstiicke (Fragments) by the Swiss fraud Bruno
Ddossekker, who uses the tuneful pen name “Binjamin Wilkomirski.” In his
book, “Wilkomirski” claims he was born in 1939 in Riga to Jewish parents.
After the Germans invaded Latvia in 1941, they presumably deported him
to Majdanek and then to Auschwitz where he experienced hell on earth.
After the war, he claims to have been adopted by a Swiss family (Wilko-
mirski 1995/1997).

Bruchstiicke was translated into numerous languages and was celebrat-
ed world-wide as an especially stirring Holocaust testimonial. The author’s
fame lasted only three years, though. In August 1998, the Zurich weekly
newspaper Die Weltwoche published an article by the Jewish journalist
Daniel Ganzfried, in which this execrable fraud was professionally disas-
sembled (Ganzfried 1998). “Wilkomirski”” was born in 1941 in Switzerland
out of wedlock; he got to know Majdanek and Auschwitz only long after
the war as a tourist. This confidence trickster had to accept this humiliating
unmasking probably because he is not a Jew and had given himself the role
of a Jewish Holocaust survivor — from a Jewish point of view, an unfor-
giveable sacrilege.

6 Except for a gassing action in Natzweiler, which allegedly caused the death of 115 Jews (Hil-
berg 2003, p. 1013).
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A Recap to this Point

My examples to this point are not yet proof that the extermination of Jews
in Auschwitz by means of toxic gas as claimed by orthodox historiography
did not occur, but suffice to instill in a reader interested in the historical
truth some healthy skepticism about a version of history that exclusively
builds its theses on witness testimonies and perpetrator confessions.

We have seen that even current orthodox historiography acknowledges
numerous testimonies to be false. We’ve analyzed the inducements that
persuaded the “eyewitnesses” and “Holocaust perpetrators” to give false
testimonies. Even more important, however, is the following:

If we believe orthodox Holocaust historians, then the Germans deported
several million Jews from almost all of the countries controlled by them in-
to death factories in order to kill them there through the use of toxic gas (in
Auschwitz and Majdanek in stationary gas chambers using the pesticide
Zyklon-B,*" in Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka in stationary gas chambers
using engine-exhaust fumes, in Chelmno using gas vans). Such an opera-
tion inevitably required an enormous logistical effort that must have left
traces. The fact that such traces do not exist is not only claimed by the re-
visionists; this was also honestly acknowledged by the anti-revisionist his-
torian Jacques Baynac, 51 years after the end of the war, but especially:
this was also roundly conceded by the judges during the Frankfurt Ausch-
witz Trial of 1963-1965.

In finishing, let us do a small thought experiment. Let’s assume a revi-
sionist historian denies that in August 1945 the U.S. dropped atom bombs
on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, and that he brushes aside all testimonies to
this as “Japanese atrocity propaganda.”

One can readily doubt that the media would give the thesis of this “his-
torian” much attention; they might briefly mention it as a curiosity, as de-
ranged scribblings of a fool, and then get on with their daily business. No
nation, Japan included, would think of adopting a law against “Hiroshima-
and Nagasaki-denial” as a response to the assertions of this peculiar histo-
rian, and to threaten deniers with years of imprisonment. There would be
no need for such a law. In a debate, one could show the originator of this
peculiar thesis heaps of documents about the planning and execution of the
atom-bombings; most of all, however, the existing palpable proofs of their
reality — the destroyed cities of Hiroshima and Nagasaki as well as the ra-
diation, claiming fatalities decades after the deed. Nobody would think of
refuting the denier with the testimonies of the bomber pilots or with eye-

7" In Majdanek additionally with carbon monoxide from bottles; cf. Graf/Mattogno 2016b, pp.
117-153.
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witness reports given by citizens of the two Japanese cities decades after
the war. After all, if the historical situation is clear, and adequate documen-
tary and material proof exists, there is no need for perpetrator confessions
or eyewitness reports. But in order to prove the “million-fold, industrial”
murders of Jews in Auschwitz and five other “extermination camps”, the
representatives of the orthodox Holocaust historiography to this day de-
pend on perpetrator confessions and eyewitness reports! And in order to si-
lence these annoying Holocaust revisionists, these splendid historians hand
the matter over to the courts, as Jacques Baynac expressed it strikingly in
the first of his two 1996 articles (Baynac 1996a).
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Chapter 1:

Crime Scene Auschwitz
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1.1. A Short Overview of the History of the Auschwitz
Camp Complex Based on Documents

A document-based overview of the history of the Auschwitz camp com-
plex shows the following:

In the beginning of February 1940, the commander of the SS, Heinrich
Himmler, ordered the inspector of the concentration camps, Richard
Gliicks, to look for suitable building complexes to accommodate concen-
tration camps. One of the localities considered by Himmler was a former
Polish artillery barracks on the western outskirts of the Upper Silesian
town Auschwitz (in Polish O$wiecim).*® On February 21, Gliicks reported
(NO-034)

“Auschwitz, a former Polish artillery barracks (stone and wooden

buildings), is suitable as a quarantine camp after rectification of some

sanitary and structural deficiencies. [...] The structural and hygienic
investigations still necessary at Auschwitz are currently being carried
out. Once the negotiations initiated by the chief of the security police
have been concluded regarding the release of the camp from the Wehr-
macht — there is, as already reported, a construction company still in
the camp — the overhaul as a quarantine camp will be carried out by me
immediately. | have already made the necessary preparations for this.”

The construction of the camp started in April; SS Hauptsturmflhrer (Cap-
tain) Rudolf Hoss was appointed to be the camp’s first commandant.

On May 20, thirty German criminal inmates from Sachsenhausen Con-
centration Camp arrived in Auschwitz to be deployed as foremen there.
From June 14 on, detainee transports arrived in the newly established
camp. Most of these detainees were Polish political prisoners. Initially,
Auschwitz was designated a “transit camp”, but mainly served as a deten-
tion and labor center. Later, after satellite camps were established, it was
called “Main Camp” (Stammlager) or “Auschwitz 1, terms also generally
used in historical literature.

In March 1941, Himmler decided to establish a substantially larger
camp that would be able to hold a total of 100,000 detainees. Construction
was started in October 1941 on the premises of the previously demolished
hamlet Birkenau (Brzezinka), two and a half kilometers to the north-west
of the Auschwitz Main Camp. Although POWSs always formed only a

8 From a German standpoint, Auschwitz at that time was located on German territory due to the
— internationally never recognized — annexation of Polish areas after the defeat of Poland in
October 1939, and not as sometimes wrongly claimed located in the area of the so-called
Government General, meaning the Polish rump state established by the German occupiers
which was also never recognized internationally.
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Image 4: The surroundings of Auschwitz today (Google Maps 2015), with the
location of the German facilities during the war.

small minority among the detainees in this camp, it received the official
designation “Prisoner-of-War Camp Birkenau.” In the historical literature,
it is called Auschwitz-Birkenau or Auschwitz I1. It was partitioned in camp
sections for diverse groups of detainees. The construction was carried out
stepwise from left to right (seen from the entrance, respectively the later
railroad track; cf. Image 6). Left of the railroad track was Construction
Section | (BA 1), the first to be built; it was completed in 1942 and mostly
consisted of residential barracks made of bricks. From 1943 on, to the right
of the later railroad track, the larger Construction Section Il (BA 11) with
mostly wooden barracks was built. The construction of Construction Sec-
tion 111 located yet farther right (north) was started in late 1943/early 1944,
but was never completed. The purpose of the various camp areas changed
according to the camp’s degree of development.

From the end of March 1943 on, four crematories went into operation in
Auschwitz-Birkenau. Their construction had been ordered in August 1942,
as the capacity of the crematory in the Main Camp for the incineration of
the corpses of the deceased detainees had become insufficient.

From the end of October 1942 on, another camp was established in
Monowitz, approximately seven kilometers east of Auschwitz I, which was
initially called “Buna Camp”, later “Labor Camp Monowitz” and by the
end “Concentration Camp Auschwitz I11.” There the detainees worked in
the so-called “Buna plants” for the I.G. Farbenindustrie.
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“Buna” was the name for synthetic rubber that was derived through
several synthesis steps of so-called coal gasification or coal conversion.
This Buna rubber was used for the fabrication of tires, among other things.
This synthetic gum was of the utmost importance for the German wartime
economy, as the Reich was practically cut off from natural rubber imports
from East Asia since the beginning of the war. The Monowitz Buna plants
never reached the stage of Buna production, though. However, the com-
pleted facilities did produce lubricants and fuel as well as methanol. The
choice to locate these plants at Auschwitz had been made for several rea-
sons: Until the end of 1943, it was out of range of Allied bomber aircraft;
the nearby Upper Silesian coal mines guaranteed a steady supply of coal;
the proximity of the Sola and Weichsel Rivers ensured the necessary water
supply; cheap labor by means of detainees was available.

Besides the three large camps Auschwitz |, Birkenau and Monowitz,
approximately forty subcamps that were of economic importance came into
existence in the area around Auschwitz. In Rajsko, for instance, there were
experiments with plant breeding; agriculture and pisciculture were prac-
ticed in Harmense, Plawy and Budy.

From the fall of 1944 on, the detainees of the Auschwitz camp complex
were evacuated in batches to the west due to the approaching Red Army.
When the Soviet troops captured Auschwitz on January 27, 1945, they
found — as mentioned in the introduction — still 4,299 inmates there, mainly
Jews, left behind by the Germans because they were unfit for labor: sick
and disabled inmates as well as old people and children.
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Image 6: Map of PoW Camp Auschwitz 1l/Birkenau, approximately 2 km
north-west of the Main Camp, construction situation as of late 1944. The
shaded buildings still exist, some of them, however, only in the form of ruins
or foundations (Crematories 1I-V), the rest having been torn down by Polish
civilians for building materials and fuel after the war. According to the
information brochure of the Auschwitz State Museum, 1991.
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1.2. How Many Were Deported to Auschwitz?

In his book Auschwitz: How Many Perished? Jews, Poles, Gypsies...,
which the orthodoxy considers definitive, Franciszek Piper, at the time
head of the Auschwitz Museum’s Department for Historical Research,
mentioned 400,207 as the cumulative number of detainees officially regis-
tered at the camp (Piper 1996). In his answer to Piper, leading revisionist
Auschwitz expert Carlo Mattogno mentions a slightly higher number,
namely 401,500 (Mattogno 2003b). A little more than half the number of
detainees — according to Mattogno approx. 205,000 — were Jews.

These 205,000, however, only were a minority of the Jews deported to,
or through, Auschwitz. The transport records show that in fact a substan-
tially higher number of Jewish detainees had been sent to Auschwitz but
had not been registered there. Their fate is a key question and a source of
great contention, about which orthodox and revisionist historians are taking
different stands: According to the former they were murdered immediately
after arrival in Auschwitz by means of toxic gas, according to the latter
they were taken somewhere else.

In order to determine at least the order of magnitude of these unregis-
tered Jews, one can, to begin with, lean on the undoubtedly most important
book of orthodox Auschwitz historiography, the Auschwitz Chronicle by
the Polish historian Danuta Czech. The first German edition of this work,
laid out in the form of a camp chronicle, was published between 1958 and
1964 as a series of articles in the Auschwitz Museum’s periodical Hefte
von Auschwitz. In 1989, a second, revised German edition was published in
book-form (Czech 1989), with an English translation a year later. In the
Chronicle, all transport arrivals in Auschwitz, their respective numbers of
inmates included, were documented. Furthermore, already in the first edi-
tion Czech pointed to the existence of a so-called “transit camp” in Birke-
nau; in her entry for July 14, 1944, she mentioned (Czech 1964):

“Neither camp numbers were issued to the Jews not registered by the
camp (so-called transit Jews), nor were they tattooed with numbers.
They were temporarily housed in the camp sector Bllc, the evacuated
Gypsy camp Blle, or in the camp sector which the prisoners called
‘Mexico.” This was the unfinished third construction section of the
camp, which was designated on the plans as BlIl (construction section
[11). The women had been accommodated here.”

The total number of Jews who were temporarily housed in the Birkenau
transit camp amounted to approximately 98,600; of those approximately



AUSCHWITZ: EYEWITNESS REPORTS AND PERPETRATOR CONFESSIONS OF THE HOLOCAUST 51

79,200 Hungarians as well as approximately 19,400 Poles from Lodz Ghet-
to (Mattogno 2003b).

In his above-mentioned book about the number of Auschwitz victims,
Franciszek Piper assumed, as all representatives of the orthodox Holocaust
historiography axiomatically do, that all Jews deported to Auschwitz but
not registered there, were murdered in gas chambers immediately after
their arrival, except for the inmates temporarily housed in the Birkenau
transit camp. In order to be able to raise the number of those gassed with-
out registration as much as possible, he resorted to serious deceptions, as
Carlo Mattogno has scrupulously documented in his aforementioned an-
swer to Piper. In almost all cases, the Polish historian exaggerated the
number of Jews that had arrived in Auschwitz from several countries and
thus reached a number of at least 180,600 fictitious deportees, among them
112,000 Polish Jews. He made up entire transports of unregistered Jews
from Polish ghettos, which were allegedly driven completely into the gas
chambers, yet not a word of them can be found in Danuta Czech’s Chroni-
cle. If one makes the necessary corrections to Piper’s numbers, one arrives
at a maximum number of 611,000 Jews who were sent to Auschwitz, but
who had neither been registered there nor temporarily housed in the transit
camp.

From this the following statistics follow:

— Registered detainees (Jews and non-Jews) about: 401,000
— Jewish detainees temporarily interned in the transit camp about: 98,600
— Jewish detainees deported to Auschwitz, but neither registered

nor housed in the transit camp, maximum: 611,000

Hence the maximum number of Jewish and non-Jewish prisoners that ar-
rived in Auschwitz was some (401,000 + 98,600 + 611,000 =) 1,110,600.

It stands to reason, however, that even this number is still too high. Ad-
ditional revisions might necessitate a lower number when new documents
about the destinations of the Hungarian Jews deported in 1944 come to
light. According to telegrams from May until July 1944 by the German
special ambassador in Budapest Edmund Veesenmeyer, 437,400 Jews were
deported from Hungary, but the telegrams do not mention the destination
(NG-5615). Of these 437,400, about 39,000 demonstrably did not arrive in
Auschwitz (Mattogno 2001), but several pieces of evidence indicate that
the actual number was higher. The archives of the Stutthof Concentration
Camp east of Danzig (Gdansk) show for instance that in the second half of
1944 transports of Hungarian Jews arrived there from Latvia and Lithua-
nia. With great probability these had not been deported via Auschwitz, but
via Lemberg to the Baltic States (ibid). There they were put to work in the
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construction of fortifications and were later, as the Red Army approached,
evacuated to Stutthof (Graf/Mattogno 2016a). Significantly more of such
transports of Hungarian Jews not going Auschwitz but elsewhere may have
existed.

1.3. The Number of Deceased among Registered Detainees

The most reliable means to determine the number of victims among the
inmates in the camp are the so-called “death books” (Sterbebiicher) that
were kept in Auschwitz according to the same principles as they were in
other concentration camps. Each book had 1,500 pages, one page per
death. The first and last name, date of birth, origin, detainee category and
cause of death were noted. In 1990, the Soviet government under Mikhail
Gorbachev provided the International Red Cross with 46 death books from
Auschwitz, which until then had been reckoned to be missing. They cover,
with some gaps, the period of August 1941 until December 1943 and in to-
tal contain 68,751 names (in some books not all 1,500 pages had been
used). A computer-assisted evaluation of these documents was published in
1995 (State Museum... 1995).

Their contents were highly explosive, as they destroyed a mainstay of
the orthodox Auschwitz narrative, namely the claim that Jews unfit for la-
bor had not been registered in Auschwitz, but were killed by gas immedi-
ately after their arrival. If that claim were valid, no names of old people or
children should have been entered in the death books. An analysis of the
documents shows, however, that they contain entries of two inmates of
over 90 years of age, 73 inmates between 80 and 90 years of age, 482 in-
mates between 70 and 80 years of age, 2,083 inmates between 60 and 70
years of age, as well as 2,584 children of up to ten years of age (Rudolf
2017a, p. 241). The reason that old people and children were transported at
all was due to the Germans not wanting to separate families. The only
groups of detainees that contained noteworthy numbers of older people and
children were the Jews and the Gypsies.

That the death books of 1944, the year in which the murdering in
Auschwitz allegedly reached its ghastly peak with the extermination of the
Hungarian Jews as well as those from the ghetto of Lodz,'® were not given
to the Red Cross was in no way caused by these books having “gone miss-
ing.” In 2000, Carlo Mattogno and | discovered documentary proof in the
State Archive of the Russian Federation in Moscow that in January 1945
eighty books with the names of inmates who had perished in Auschwitz

19 On the myth of the extermination of the Jews of Lodz in Auschwitz, cf. Mattogno 2003d.
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had been found by the Red Army in GroR-Rosen Concentration Camp.?°
This document could only refer to the death books, and the 34 volumes that
have not been released so far completely or at least mostly cover death cas-
es of 1944,

Besides the death books, other wartime German documents exist allow-
ing us to calculate the approximate number of victims among the registered
inmates, among them the so-called “strength reports” (Starkemeldungen)
that show the number of inmates for each day. These documents are almost
complete for the year 1944. Relying on all these records, Piper arrives at
202,000 registered inmates who died in the camp, Mattogno at some
135,500. I refrain from showing here how both authors got to their strongly
diverging numbers, because any interested individual can readily read the
respective texts for himself and judge which of the two opponents argues
more credibly.

Mattogno therefore assumes as well that more than a third of the regis-
tered inmates perished in the camp. Most of the fatalities were caused by
ilinesses, especially by the repeatedly erupting typhus epidemics that were
never brought under complete control since the summer of 1942. We will
soon deal with this subject.

1.4. The Basis for the Notion of the “Extermination Camp”
and the Total Number of Victims According to the
Orthodoxy

The notion of an “Extermination Camp” Auschwitz, in which a tremendous
number of Jews is said to have been murdered by toxic gas, depends entire-
ly on the claim that those Jews deported to Auschwitz who were neither
registered nor temporarily housed in the transit camp, were gassed imme-
diately after their arrival. It is furthermore claimed that Jews who initially
were registered as fit for work but who later became unfit for work due to
illness, accidents, exhaustion etc., were selected and either murdered in gas
chambers or by means of injections, after which false causes of death were
entered into the respective death certificates.

No documentary proof exists for either the first or the second claim;
both are solely based on witness reports and perpetrator confessions. An
uninitiated reader of the orthodox Auschwitz literature will get the impres-
sion, however, that documentary proof must exist; otherwise this literature
could not possibly mention exact numbers of gassed people. Here is an ex-

20 State Archives of the Russian Federation, Moscow, 7021-149-189, pp. 34-37. See also Mat-
togno/Graf 2001.
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ample from the Auschwitz Chronicle. Dated May 21, 1944 D. Czech an-
nounces (1990, pp. 629f.):

“607 Jews, 228 men and 29 boys and 221 women and 29 girls from
Malines arrive in the twenty-fifth RSHAPY transport from Belgium.
Probably approximately 200 Jews were added to this transport en
route, since after the selection 300 men — more than were transferred
from the Malines camp — are admitted to the camp and received Nos. A-
2546 — A-2845. 99 female Jews receive Nos. A-5143 — A-5241. The ap-
proximately 300 remaining are Kkilled in the gas chambers. ”

From where did Czech get the number of “approximately 300” gassed?
The answer is as follows:

Among the inmates of various nationalities who were employed as
clerks in the offices of the camp’s political department, there were some
who knew German. They secretly copied documents about the transports
that arrived in Auschwitz and noted, how many arriving inmates were reg-
istered, i.e. were officially taken into the camp. On December 16, 1945, in
preparation for the trial against Rudolf Hoss, the Polish investigating judge
Jan Sehn compiled a list of transports based on these records; the total
number of transports amounted to approximately 3,600. The unregistered
inmates of these transports were claimed to have been murdered immedi-
ately in the gas chambers.

Let us now have a look at the numbers of gassed people as postulated
since 1945 by representatives of the extermination thesis.

After the liberation of Auschwitz, a Polish-Soviet Committee presided
by the Polish citizens Dawidowski and Dolinski as well as by the Soviet
citizens Lavrushin and Shuer started its work there. The results of their ex-
aminations were published on May 7, 1945 in the Pravda, and were later
submitted to the Nuremberg Trial as a prosecution document.?? According
to the Committee, four million people had perished in Auschwitz. When
determining this number, however, the Committee did not rely on the cap-
tured German documents but on the capacity of the crematories as “calcu-
lated” by the Committee, which it heavily exaggerated. In doing so, it as-
sumed that the crematories had operated flawlessly during their entire op-
erating time, arbitrarily assigned a fantastic utilization rate of 90%, and
claimed an impossibly short cremation time per corpse (6 minutes).
Through these baseless assumptions, the Committee arrived at 3.263 mil-
lion corpses that had been incinerated in the crematories. They moreover
invented another 795,000 that allegedly had been burned on pyres, and in
that way arrived at 4.058 million victims, which it rounded off to four mil-

2L Reichssicherheitshauptamt, Reich Security Main Office
2 008-USSR; IMT, Volume 39, pp. 241-261.
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lion (cf. Mattogno 2003a). For decades, this absurd number was parroted
by the Western media as well. Western historians, the Jewish ones includ-
ed, have never accepted these numbers, however. British-Jewish historian
Gerald Reitlinger, for instance, who had an exceptionally critical mind
compared to other orthodox Holocaust historians, assumed 850,000 to
950,000 Auschwitz victims in his 1953 book The Final Solution (Reitlinger
1953, p. 500).

With the publication of the first edition of the Kalendarium (1958-
1964), it became crystal clear that the four-million number was untenable,
because the total strength of the transports listed by Czech did not come
anywhere close to four million. In 1983, on the basis of this first, German
Kalendarium edition, French-Jewish researcher Georges Wellers published
an article — riddled with deceptions® — about the number of Jewish victims,
which gave the four-million number its deathblow. According to Wellers,
some one and a half million Jews had perished in Auschwitz.

After the demise of the communist regime in Poland, the new govern-
ment in Warsaw decided to jettison deadweight. In 1990, the memorial
plaques at the Birkenau Camp were removed that announced the four-
million Auschwitz death toll in twenty languages. Within a little less than
two years, they were replaced by new plaques speaking of one and a half
million victims. During the same year when the new plaques were in-
stalled, Franciszek Piper published the original Polish version of his study
on the number of victims of the camp, wherein he arrived at approximately
1.3 million that had been deported to Auschwitz, of which about 1.1 mil-
lion are said to have perished; the death toll claimed on the new plaques
thus was 200,000 higher than all the inmates who, according to Piper, had
ever arrived in Auschwitz in the first place. As we have seen, however,
even Piper’s new numbers were the result of dishonest manipulations.

For the sake of completeness, I’ll present a table that shows the num-
bers of Auschwitz victims mentioned through the decades by supporters of
the orthodox Auschwitz narrative:

2 As an example, Wellers described that 410,000 Hungarian Jews had been gassed in Ausch-
witz. He arrived at this number by subtracting from the total of (nearly) 438,000 deported
Jews from Hungary, the 28,000 that were registered in Auschwitz. When doing so, it couldn’t
possibly have escaped him that a transit camp existed in Birkenau in which Hungarian Jews
were housed before the next transportation to other camps. This however was shown by the
first edition of the “Kalendarium” by D. Czech, on which Wellers based himself when com-
piling his statistics. For this, see Mattogno 1987.
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Table 1: Auschwitz Death Toll Claimed by Various Renowned Sources

9 million according to 1955 movie Nuit et Brouillard (“Nine million
people perished at this cursed location™)

5 to 7 million according to the British-Jewish author Filip Friedman
(Friedman 1946, p. 14)

5 million of those, more than 4.5 million Jews, according to Le Monde
of April 20, 1978

4 million according to the Nuremberg document 008-USSR

3.5 million gassed Jews and “many”” who perished of other causes ac-

cording to the French-Jewish movie director Claude
Lanzmann (his preamble to Muller 1980, p. 12)

3 million of those, 2.5 million gassed Jews until end of Nov. 1943
alone, according to the early Auschwitz commander Rudolf
Hoss (3868-PS; IMT, Volume 33, pp. 275-279, here p. 276)

2 million Jews according to the US-Jewish historian Lucy Dawid-
owicz (1990, p. 191)

1.5 million Jews according to Georges Wellers (1983)

1.25 million of those, a million Jews, according to the US-Jewish histori-
an Raul Hilberg (1997, p. 946)

1.1 million according to Franciszek Piper (1993)

1to 1.5 million according to the French researcher Jean-Claude Pressac

(1989, p. 553)

850,000 to 950,000 |according to Gerald Reitlinger (1953, p. 500)

775,00 to 800,000 |according to Jean-Claude Pressac (1993, p. 148)

630,000 to 710,000 |of those, 470,000 to 550,000 gassed Jews, according to Jean-
Claude Pressac (1994, p. 202)

510,000 of those, 356,000 gassed Jews, according to the former chief
editor of the Spiegel Fritjof Meyer (2002)

1.5. The Crematories and their Capacity

Except for a mass grave with 536 corpses® located by the Soviets after the
liberation of the camp, mass graves were never found in Auschwitz. The
corpses of the detainees who perished in the camp thus must have been
burned. This is valid for inmates who died of “natural causes”® as well as
for those who were hypothetically gassed.

Fred Leuchter was the first to deal with the capacity of the crematories
in his famous 1988 expert report.?® According to him, a maximum of five
corpses could be incinerated within 24 hours in one muffle of such a fur-

24 State Archive of the Russian Federation, Moscow 7021-108-21.

% ’m putting this expression in quotation marks because these detainees would not have per-
ished, had they not been deported into a camp ravaged by epidemics.

% | euchter 1988; newer: Leuchter/Faurisson/Rudolf 2017. Although in 1981 an article by Rein-
hard K. Buchner was published in the Journal of Historical Review, it however, just as Leuch-
ter’s expert report, shows a complete absence of references to specialist literature about cre-
mation technology.
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nace. As Carlo Mattogno has proven in an article that he had written to-
gether with degreed engineer Dr. Franco Deana for the 1994 anthology
Grundlagen zur Zeitgeschichte, this number is far too low, which means
that the pertinent part of the Leuchter expert report is inconclusive (Mat-
togno/Deana 1994; 2003).

The aforementioned article by Mattogno/Deana was the first examina-
tion of the crematories of Auschwitz that met scientific criteria. Mattogno
later delved more deeply into this theme with two far more detailed studies.
In 2010, he published a work titled Auschwitz: The Case for Sanity, with
revised editions in 2015 and 2019 under the new title The Real Case for
Auschwitz; there, on pp. 229-366, he deals with the cremation furnaces of
Auschwitz-Birkenau. In 2012, Mattogno’s two-volume opus magnum on
this subject, | forni crematori di Auschwitz, was published; three years lat-
er, it also appeared in a revised English translation (Mattogno/Deana
2015). My following discussions rely on The Real Case for Auschwitz; in
order to avoid adding a multitude of footnotes, | will give the respective
page numbers in parentheses in the running text.

The mode of operation and capacity of the crematories is of utmost im-
portance for two reasons. First, the theoretical maximum number of corps-
es needs to be determined that could be incinerated in the Auschwitz fur-
naces. In connection with the question about the extent of possible open-air
incinerations (cf. Section 1.6.), this allows us to determine the approximate
maximum number of inmates who perished in the camp. Second, the
claims of eyewitnesses about the procedure and speed of the cremation
process are an indication of these witnesses’ credibility. As already men-
tioned in the introduction, witnesses who make glaringly implausible asser-
tions as to this central point can properly be rated as unreliable.

1.5.1. Crematory | in the Auschwitz Main Camp

The cremation furnaces of Auschwitz were manufactured by the company
Topf & S6hne of the city of Erfurt. In the “old crematory” (Crematory |) of
the Auschwitz Main Camp, three double-muffle furnaces were successive-
ly installed, of which the first came into operation in August 1940, the sec-
ond in February 1941, and the third in March 1942. The crematory stayed
operational until July 1943, whereupon the furnaces were dismantled. The
two double-muffle furnaces seen by the visitors today in the Auschwitz
Museum are clumsy reconstructions made after the war. After the Ausch-
witz camp complex had come within range of enemy bombers due to the
advance of the Allied forces in Italy, Crematory | was converted to an air-
raid shelter.
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The muffles of the Topf double-muffle furnaces each had an internal
length of 200 cm, a height of 70 cm and likewise a width of 70 cm. (p. 254;
cf. in general Mattogno 2016b).

1.5.2. The Crematories of Birkenau

From September 1942 on, the Topf & S6hne Company equipped four
crematories in Birkenau with cremation furnaces containing altogether 46
muffles. At first sight, this high number raises the suspicion that mass ex-
terminations of detainees had indeed been planned. However, the historical
context does not confirm this hypothesis. On July 17 and 18, 1942, on the
occasion of his visit to Auschwitz, Himmler gave an order to increase the
capacity of Birkenau to 200,000 inmates; in September this planned num-
ber was reduced to 140,000 (pp. 289f.). At that time, typhus was raging in
Auschwitz; about 4,400 detainees succumbed to it in July, and in August
even 8,600 (p. 290). As it could not be ruled out that such epidemics would
reoccur, an adequate cremation capacity was to guarantee that the corpses
of the victims of the epidemic could be incinerated.

Between September 1942 and June 1943, five triple-muffle furnaces
were installed in both Crematory Il and Crematory Il of Birkenau. The
muffles were 200 cm long, 80 cm high and 70 cm wide (p. 258).

Crematories 1V and V were of a different design; both had one furnace
cluster with eight muffles consisting of four double-muffle furnaces; two
of these furnaces stood side-by-side, sharing their back sides with the back
sides of another such pair. Each group of four muffles had a length of 443
cm, a height of 245.5 cm and a width of 254.5 cm. (pp. 262f.).

Between October 1944 and January 1945, the Birkenau crematories
were dynamited by the SS.

1.5.3. Minimum Incineration Duration of a Corpse

The cremation of a corpse is a process that is subject to the laws of nature,
the duration of which cannot be reduced at will, independent of the de-
ployed system. The relatively high nitrogen concentration of the corpse
originating from proteins, its high auto-ignition temperature and the chem-
ical changes the proteins undergo — all of this adds up to the long crema-
tion time (pp. 248f.). In a crematory, in the optimal case, the cremation
happens at a temperature between 850 and 900°C; at substantially lower
temperatures, the corpse merely carbonizes, and at a temperature of over
1,100°C sintering of the bones with the fireproof material of the muffle oc-
curs, damaging the muffle beyond repair (p. 250). The duration at such be-
low-optimum, as well as above-optimum temperatures will therefore not be
considered here.
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In 1927, the German engineer Richard Kessler performed a series of
consecutive cremations in a furnace, resulting in a required average crema-
tion time for a corpse of an hour and 26 minutes (p. 251). In the cremato-
ries of Auschwitz, this duration could be lowered to one hour due to the
use of a different system. Kessler had waited each time until no flames
arose from the ashes of the corpse anymore before shoving them into the
ashpit located behind the muffle (also post-combustion chamber). In con-
trast to this, a new corpse could be inserted into the Topf furnaces of
Birkenau as soon as the remains of the previous corpse started to fall
through the grate into the ashpit, which took on average about an hour. The
cremation of the previous corpse came to an end in the ashpit within ap-
proximately 20 minutes. In both cases, however, the main incineration
happened in the muffle itself (pp. 274f.).

During a Soviet interrogation held in 1964, the average duration of one
hour per cremation was confirmed by degreed engineer Kurt Priifer who
was an employee of the Topf & S6hne Company and who had been in-
volved significantly in the installation of the cremation furnaces in Ausch-
witz (cf. Section 3.6.).

1.5.4. Simultaneous Incineration of Multiple Corpses in a Muffle

A central theme of the testimonies by Auschwitz eyewitnesses is the claim
that, in order to accelerate the cremation process, two, three or more corps-
es were simultaneously cremated in one muffle. There are no empirical da-
ta for this, neither from before nor after the war. As in other countries, it
was statutorily required in Germany as well to hand the ash over to the be-
reaved, and this excluded the simultaneous incineration of two or more
corpses in a muffle. As a decree by Heinrich Himmler of February 28,
1940 concerning implementation of the cremation in the Sachsenhausen
Concentration Camp shows, this statutory rule also pertained to concentra-
tion camps (p. 234). Later this rule could not be complied with anymore
due to the increasing death rates in the camps.

The incineration of two or more bodies in one muffle in the triple-
muffle furnaces of Crematory Il and 111 as well as in both eight-muffle fur-
naces of Crematories 1V and V would have been counterproductive, be-
cause in a triple-muffle furnace, the corpses would have partially or com-
pletely blocked the openings between the two outer muffles and the inner
muffle, and in the case of an eight-muffle furnace the openings connecting
the outer with the inner muffle, which would have impeded the flow of the
combustion air from the coke-gas generator into the muffles, resulting in a
significant drop in combustion temperature (p. 285). In the double-muffle
furnace of the old crematory, the simultaneous incineration of the corpses
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of two adults probably would have been possible, but would have had no
advantage. This results from data of incineration facilities for animal ca-
davers showing that the required time for the incineration of a certain
quantity of animal flesh increases proportionally to its weight. In other
words: The simultaneous cremation of two corpses in one muffle would
have meant at least a doubling of the time needed for the cremation of a
single corpse (pp. 284f.). If one takes it to even greater extremes such as
the sometimes-claimed simultaneous cremation of three or even more
corpses, several other effects would have increased causing such cremation
attempts to take an increasingly overproportional amount of time, as Ger-
mar Rudolf explained (Rudolf/Mattogno 2017, p. 28):

1. The muffles of the Birkenau triple- and eight-muffle furnaces were in-
terconnected with openings in the muffle walls, through which the hot
combustion air flowed [...]. If too many corpses were piled up in the
muffle, these holes would have been partly or completely blocked, slow-
ing down or completely stopping the cremation process in all muffles.

2. The introduction of numerous cold corpses would reduce the temper-
ature at the beginning of the cremation so strongly that the cremation
would have slowed down tremendously. The fire places of the furnaces
were not designed to supply the heat need[ed] for such a situation.

3. Once the corpses’ water had evaporated, the burning tissue of multi-
ple corpses would have produced too much heat, severely damaging
muffle, flue, and chimney.

Hence, stuffing a cremation muffle full of corpses would have caused a
disproportionate increase in the required cremation times, and this would
also have damaged the respective crematory.

1.5.5. Maximum Continuous Operation Time of an Incinerator

When burning coke, slag accrues, gradually encrusting the grate. In the
Auschwitz furnaces, the slag had to be removed daily with a kind of rake.
That, of course, required a prior cooling-down of the furnace; otherwise it
would have gradually become inoperative. As the cooling-down of the fur-
nace, the removal of slag and the subsequent re-heating of the furnace took
about four hours, it follows that a furnace could be continuously operated
for no more than 20 hours per day. Eyewitness reports of uninterrupted 24-
hour operations are therefore unrealistic (p. 283).

At an average cremation time of one hour per corpse, the following dai-
ly maximum capacities of the crematories result:
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Crematory I: 6 muffles (20 x 6 =) 120 cremations
Crematory II: 15 muffles (20 x 15 =) 300 cremations
Crematory Ill: 15 muffles (20 x 15=) 300 cremations
Crematory IV: 8 muffles (20 x 8 =) 160 cremations
Crematory V: 8 muffles (20 x 8 =) 160 cremations

The total maximum capacity thus was 1,040 corpses per day (p. 289). In
practice however, the capacity was clearly lower. A document of March
17, 1943 indicates that the crematories were usually merely in operation
for 12 hours per day, whereof the first hour was needed for firing-up the
furnaces. This thus only left 11 hours for the cremations as such. In these
conditions, the maximum daily capacity of all the crematories decreased to
572 corpses (p. 289).

1.5.6. Actual Operation Times of the Crematories of Birkenau

Contrary to the myth of the Auschwitz crematories steadily operating with
deadly precision, these had to be serviced frequently. Based on the com-
prehensive documentation about this matter, Mattogno calculated that dur-
ing the period of their existence 1943/1944, Crematories Il and 11l were
collectively in operation for merely 889 days, and Crematories IV and V
only for 276 days (pp. 293-296).

By means of the death books and other documents, it can be concluded
that, in the period between March 1943 and October 1944, about 50,000
registered inmates perished in the Auschwitz camp complex, of whom ap-
proximately 3,050 were cremated in Crematory | of the Main Camp. As-
suming that the remaining approximately 46,950 corpses were evenly dis-
tributed over the available cremation muffles of Birkenau and that there-
fore 86% of them were incinerated in Crematories Il and Ill and the re-
maining 14% in Crematories IV and V, to both the first-mentioned crema-
tories approximately 40,400 and to both the last-mentioned approximately
6,550 cremations were allotted. For this, 135 days of operation in Cremato-
ries Il and 111, and 42 days of operation in Crematories IV and V would
have been required (p. 296).

In order to turn the corpses of hypothetically gassed people to ashes,
correspondingly 754 days would have been available in Crematories 11 and
I11, and 234 in Crematories IV and V 234. Since the orthodox narrative has
it that there must have been numerous children among the victims — always
provided that mass exterminations by means of gas existed — Mattogno
raises the theoretical maximum capacity of the crematories by 20%, and
therefore arrives at (271,440 + 44,928 =) 316,368 unregistered victims who
theoretically could have been cremated in the four Birkenau crematories
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(p. 296). By cremation capacity alone, a mass extermination of hundreds of
thousands — not millions — can consequently not be ruled out. Of course,
nothing indicates that the cremation installations were operational for 20
hours per day. There are, however, two compelling factors that go against
the reality of mass gassings, which I will present here in a nutshell.

1.5.7. Lifespan of the Fireproof Material of the Incinerators

In the crematories of those days, the fireproof lining of the muffles had to
be replaced after approximately every 2,000 cremations due to the thermal
stresses they had to withstand (p. 297). Accordingly, the 46 muffles of the
Birkenau crematories could have cremated a total of approximately 92,000
corpses, after which the fireclay lining would have had to be replaced.
However, the extensive documentation about the crematories contains no
trace of an indication about such an enormous labor. The logical conclu-
sion therefore is that it never took place. If one adds to the 92,000 corpses
the “at best” 16,000 corpses that could have been cremated in Crematory |
of the Main Camp, one arrives at a maximum total number of some
108,000 cremations that could have been conducted in all crematories of
Auschwitz and Birkenau (p. 299).

1.5.8. Coke Deliveries to the Birkenau Crematories During 1943

In order to be able to cremate a corpse, in both Crematories Il and Il at
least 15.7 kg of coke were needed for an ideal case, and in both Cremato-
ries IV and V at least 11.7 kg. Considering the substantially higher number
of cremations in both of the first-mentioned crematories, this results in a
minimum mean value of 14.3 kg of coke per corpse (p. 299). From March
1943 (when the first Birkenau crematory, Crematory Il, came into opera-
tion) until October 1943, the crematories received coke deliveries of a total
of 607 tons; in addition, 96 cubic meters of fuel wood whose calorific val-
ue was equivalent to 21.5 tons of coke. This means that for the cremation
of the inmates who perished in this period, the equivalent value of 628 tons
of coke was available. In the pertinent period, some 16,000 inmates per-
ished in the camp (p. 302). Consequently, for the cremation of each corpse,
39.3 kg of coke had been available, of which some was needed for firing-
up the furnaces, however. According to Mattogno’s calculations, at least
366 tons of coke were needed for cremation and firing-up, which equates
to approximately 58% of the delivered quantity (p. 303).

Would the additionally available 262 tons have sufficed for the crema-
tion of the claimed number of gassed people? Following Danuta Czech’s
Auschwitz Chronicle, their number was approximately 116,800 during the
period between March 14 and October 1943 (p. 304). For the cremation of
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the postulated victims of gassings, only 2.2 kg of coke per corpse would
have been available, which is completely impossible, thermo-technically
speaking. If considering that orthodox historiography explicitly excludes
open-air incinerations for the time between March 1943 and the end of that
year (p. 304), all those who perished must have been cremated in the crem-
atories. Hence, ironclad proof is delivered that the gassings of unregistered
detainees as claimed in the Auschwitz Chronicle cannot have taken place.

Unfortunately, no data is available for the key year 1944 as to coke de-
liveries.

1.6. Open-Air Incinerations

On April 6, 1941, 1,249 Polish detainees of the Castle prison of Lublin
were transferred to Auschwitz. Among the prisoners were some who suf-
fered from typhus. As a result, the disease was introduced into the Ausch-
witz Concentration Camp. As the hygienic conditions in the camp were all
but ideal, the epidemic spread slowly (Czech 1990, p. 57).

Toward the end of 1941, the epidemic was brought under control to a
certain extent, but it broke out again in March 1942 and escalated noticea-
bly, as the steadily rising mortality rate shows, see Image 7. On May 10,
1942 it claimed its first prominent victim: the garrison physician of Ausch-
witz, SS Captain Dr. Siegfried Schwela (ibid, p. 165). All the corpses ac-
cruing throughout the spring of 1942 had to be cremated in the three dou-
ble-muffle furnaces of the old crematory. As pointed out in Subsection
1.5.5., these six muffles could at most cremate 120 corpses per day or, in
the ideal case, approximately 3,600 per month.

Due to the high strain in these months, the chimney of the old cremato-
ry showed cracks by the end of May 1942, so that ultimately a new stack
had to be built (cf. Mattogno 2016b, pp. 47-49). Due to this measure, the
old crematory wasn’t operational from late July until early 1943, thus ex-
actly at the time when the typhus escalated in an extreme way with more
than 4,000 victims in July and more than 8,000 fatalities in August. In Sep-
tember and October, the number of victims of the epidemic also clearly ex-
ceeded the maximum capacity of the crematory. What, then, happened to
the corpses that since July could not be cremated?

In aerial photos of 1944, north of Crematory V four distinct rectangles
of a lighter color than their surroundings can be identified. This means that
soil had been massively disturbed there (see Image 8). It may be assumed
that these are traces of former mass graves. Due to the groundwater in and
around the Birkenau Camp being close to the surface (cf. Mattogno 2016d,
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Image 7: Exploding lethality of the Auschwitz Camp in 1942 due to a
typhus epidemic (based on the death books of Auschwitz).

pp. 97-127), deep pits would soon have been filled by water. It’s therefore
very improbable that mass graves could be deeper than 2 meters; they
probably were even shallower. The total surface area of the bright spots
amounts to approximately 4,300 m?. If assuming a covering layer of 1 me-
ter as well as a maximum packing density of 5 corpses per cubic meter, this
results in approximately 20,000 corpses.

Depending on the water level of the nearby Sola and Weichsel Rivers,
the corpses in these mass graves would have been lying in groundwater. As
the whole area of Auschwitz took its drinking water from this groundwater,
there was an acute danger of contamination of the potable water and there-
fore the possibility that further epidemics would spread in the area, such as
typhoid fever, dysentery and cholera. Hence, these corpses had to be ex-
humed swiftly and had to be disposed of otherwise. The only possibility
was incineration on pyres.

As we will see in this book, witness testimonies pertaining to these op-
erations are numerous, although many witnesses claimed that the initially
hastily buried and later-exhumed corpses had been the victims of mass gas-
sings. In the face of the catastrophic situation caused by the typhus epidem-
ic, however, the camp would logistically not in the least have been capable
of disposing of further umpteen thousands of victims of mass murder in
addition to the umpteen thousands of epidemic victims.
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Image 8: Section enlargement of Image 20 north (right) of Crematory V:
Four distinct bright rectangles indicate the location of covered, possibly
already-emptied mass graves. (Rudolf 2018, pp. 119f.)

In what way would such mass incinerations on pyres have been done?
Due to the high level of groundwater, they certainly would not have been
conducted in deep pits. At the most, a potentially existing sod would have
been removed as well as maybe the upper layer of topsoil.

In history, there have always been mass incinerations of the victims of
epidemics. The best-documented case is the foot-and-mouth disease that
raged especially in Great Britain in 2001, killing within a short time many
thousands of cows, pigs and sheep. In order to curtail the epidemic, a total
of six million cows, pigs and sheep were emergency-slaughtered.?” As the
cadaver-incineration capacity in England at that time was far too low, they
resorted to open-air incinerations.

In an attempt to apply the experiences and empirical data that were
gained from this epidemic to those open-air mass incinerations that are said
to have been conducted in the so-called mass extermination camps of the
Third Reich, Heinrich Kdchel has systematically analyzed the various doc-
uments on this disaster (Kochel 2016). The substantial points will be sum-
marized here very briefly. When discussing Szlama Dragon’s various tes-
timonies, | will get back to these data (cf. Section 2.11.).

1.6.1. Dimensions

In order to be able to load a pyre with fuel and corpses from both sides, it
may not be wider than some 2.5 meters. The height is limited to approxi-
27 Cf. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2001_United Kingdom_foot-and-mouth_outbreak
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mately two meters, because otherwise a large device such as a power shov-
el would be needed (which has never been mentioned for Auschwitz by
any witness), and also because a pile that is higher than it is wide can tip
over to one side during the burning, which is to be avoided.

1.6.2. Fuel Demand

With adequate conversion factors from various cattle cadavers to human
corpses, Kochel deduces a fuel demand of approximately 135 kg of dry
wood per corpse. As freshly cut wood only has about half the caloric value
of dry wood, the required quantity doubles when freshly cut wood is used.
Although Mattogno assumes 200 kg of dry wood required per corpse
(2016d, p. 60; cf. Mattogno 2004a), we will apply Kéchel’s more-conser-
vative value here.

1.6.3. Packing Density

Considering the quantity of required wood per corpse and the above-shown
dimensions of a pyre, it would have been possible to cremate some 8 to 10
corpses per linear meter on a pyre of that type when using dry wood as
fuel, or half that number when using freshly cut wood.

1.6.4. Required Time

Pyres of this scale generally burn for a day. However, if the remainders of
these pyres had to be sifted for remaining bone parts subsequently, as is
claimed by a number of witnesses, not only would the pyre have had to
burn down, the embers burn out, and the whole pile cool down, which
would take several days. In order to effectively deploy manpower and
equipment with continuous and repeated incinerations, it is appropriate to
erect and burn down one pyre after the other. While one pile is burning,
glowing and cooling down, others can progressively be prepared and
burned.

1.6.5. Required Space

The infernal heat of a large burning pyre requires providing a minimum
space between two such heaps. Experience shows this space must be at
least 50 meters, not only because the heat of one such pyre would prohibit
working on the next pyre, but also because space between the pyres is
needed to transport and arrange the corpses and fuel, and to dispose of res-
idues.

Additional space might be required for the storage of fuel and excavated
soil, something that can greatly differ depending on the logistics of the ac-
tivity. This is contingent, for instance, upon the need for fuel to be deliv-
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ered continually or in batches, whether the pyres are erected in pits, and if
so, what their depth is.

1.7. The Alleged Gassing Sites

1.7.1. The Basement of Block 11 in the Main Camp

According to orthodox historiography, the first homicidal gassing in
Auschwitz took place from September 3 to September 5, 1941. The victims
are said to have been Soviet POWSs. The aim of the gassing action is said to
have been the testing of Zyklon B as an instrument of mass murder. These
claims are based on Czech’s “Kalendarium” (Czech 1959, p. 109); they
have been adopted by the representatives of the orthodox Auschwitz narra-
tive without verification.?®

The first gassing is said to have been conducted in a building that was
located in the southwesterly corner of the Main Camp and was called
“Block 11.” In this block, the punishment battalion was housed; its base-
ment contained the camp’s brig with 28 prison cells. A Polish book pub-
lished in 1959 portrays the crime scene of the first gassing as follows
(Brol/WIloch/Pilecki 1959, p. 7):

“The block that after the completion of the construction of the Ausch-
witz Camp was called Block 11 was outwardly distinguishable from the
other blocks by an always-closed entry door and a courtyard that was
separated from all other parts of the camp by high walls. Apart from
those prisoners who were assigned work within the block, no prisoner
could ever enter or leave this block. Already in 1940, Block 11 was oc-
cupied by the punishment battalion, and the camp-internal brig, co-
called Bunker, was established in its basement. An always-locked steel
door led from the ground floor into the basement. The left and right
sides of the Bunker were separated from each other by iron bars. Cells
1 to 14 were on the left side, and 15 to 28 were on the right.”

The total area of this detention room was 394 square meters, 238 square
meters of which were allotted to the cells and 156 square meters to the cen-
ter corridor and the side corridors (Mattogno 2016a, p. 33).

1.7.2. The Morque of Crematory | in the Main Camp

From approximately February 1942 on, the morgue of Crematory I in the
Auschwitz Main Camp is said to have been used as a homicidal gas cham-

28 One exception is Jean-Claude Pressac, who places this first gassing in December 1941 (Pres-
sac 1994, pp. 41f.). Czech’s representation contradicts the statements of numerous witnesses
of the immediate post-war period. See the Introduction as well as Mattogno 2016a.



68 AUSCHWITZ: EYEWITNESS REPORTS AND PERPETRATOR CONFESSIONS OF THE HOLOCAUST

ber for a short period. The SS, so we are told, made holes in the ceiling of
this room through which the Zyklon-B pellets were allegedly poured into
the gas chambers. As Crematory | was only some 30 meters away from the
camp hospital, this would have meant that for a while physicians and pa-
tients could witness the darkest secret of the Third Reich, the extermination
of the Jews, in real time!

Blueprint No. 1241 of April 10 drawn by the Central Construction Of-
fice of Auschwitz shows the following:

The morgue serving as laying-out space for the corpses of deceased de-
tainees before they were cremated had a length of 17 m and a width of 4.60
m.

Connected to the morgue was a lavatory of 4.10 m x 4.60 m.%

After the war, the Poles removed the dividing walls between the
morgue and the lavatory, so that the space that is denoted as “gas chamber”
today is more than four meters longer than the morgue in its original state.
It also needs to be mentioned that the door that was labeled as “victim en-
trance” until the late 1990s, did not exist at the time of the alleged gas-
sings. It was built in 1944, when Crematory | was converted into an air-
raid shelter. The victims of hypothetical gassings in the morgue would
have had to enter it through the adjacent furnace room.

The question of whether or not the four insertion shafts that are present
in the roof of today’s “gas chambers” already existed during the war will
be addressed together with witness testimonies about gassings in Cremato-

ry l.

1.7.3. The Two “Bunkers” of Birkenau

Starting from a not-precisely-known month of 1942,* two farmhouses
converted to gas chambers outside the fencing of the Birkenau Camp are
said to have been used for the extermination of Jews. In the Holocaust lit-
erature, these two buildings are called “Bunker 1” (or “Red House”) and
“Bunker 2” (or “White House”). The corpses of the Jewish inmates gassed
in the “Bunkers” are said to have been initially buried with haste in nearby
mass graves, but later they were allegedly incinerated on pyres. After the
Birkenau crematories started operating, which were equipped with homici-
dal gas chambers according to orthodox historiography, Bunker 1 is said to
have been torn down, while Bunker 2 was allegedly decommissioned tem-
porarily. In the course of the deportation of the Hungarian Jews, Bunker 2
is said to have been reactivated in the spring of 1944.

2 Russian State Military Archive, Moscow, 502-2-146, p. 21.

30 In the first edition of her “Kalendarium,” D. Czech writes that Bunker 1 had been commissioned
in January 1942 and Bunker 2 in June 1942 (Czech 1960, pp. 49, 68). In the second edition she
shifts Bunker 1’s date of commissioning to March 20, 1942 (1990, p. 146).
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Image 9 Remamders of a building to the west of the Birkenau Camp that,

according to the orthodoxy, are said to have served as “Bunker 2.”
© Carlo Mattogno, July 1992

With regard to the geographic location, layout and capacity of the bun-
kers, the eyewitnesses are extremely contradictory (Mattogno 2016g).

The ruins of a farmhouse said to have been converted to Bunker 2 are
still present today. Preserved are the foundation of the building as well as a
part of the outer walls and the inner dividing walls. No trace exists of Bun-
ker 1.

1.7.4. The Gas Chambers in the Crematories of Birkenau

In Crematories 11 and 111 of Birkenau, built facing each other and as mirror
images of each other, the half-subterranean room designated in the con-
struction plans as “Morgue 1” are said to have been used as homicidal gas
chambers. This room was 30 m long, 7 m wide and 2.41 m high (Pressac
1989, p. 286). For the orthodox Holocaust historians, the largest murder lo-
cation of the Third Reich is this morgue of Crematory Il. According to
Robert Jan van Pelt, who is acknowledged as the currently leading Ausch-
witz expert of the orthodoxy, no less than 500,000 Jews were gassed in this
room from March 1943 to October 1944 (van Pelt 2002, p. 68).

According to orthodox historiography, a gassing in Crematories Il and
111 went like this: Up to 2,000, even 3,000, doomed people were taken to
the half-subterranean Morgue 2, where they had to undress in order to take
a shower, or so they were told (to the left in Image 10). According to some
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witnesses, these people were handed soap and towels in order to hoodwink
them. After that they proceeded from this “undressing room” to Morgue 1
located perpendicular to Morgue 2 (below, right in Image 10). An SS man
locked the door, and another one inserted Zyklon-B pellets into four open-
ings in the roof (arrow below right in Image 10). After the death of the vic-
tims, a Sonderkommando consisting of Jewish inmates pulled the corpses
out of the gas chamber and dragged them to an elevator (see arrow in the
enlarged cut-out of Image 10), by which they were transported to the fur-
nace room one level up (top right in Image 10). There the corpses were in-
cinerated in the five triple-muffle furnaces.

Substantially lower numbers of people are said to have been gassed in
Crematories IV and V wherein above-ground rooms are said to have served
as gas chambers. The purpose of these rooms is not stated in the construc-
tion plans. Here, the Zyklon pellets were allegedly not poured through
openings in the ceiling, but through small hatches in the walls. In order to
reach these hatches, the assigned SS men had to climb up a ladder (Pressac
1989, p. 386).

1.8. The Alleged Murder Weapon: Zyklon B

During wartime it’s often the case that more people perish from epidemics
than from the acts of war. The reason for this is clear: Where soldiers in
camps, barracks etc. in unhygienic conditions are crowded closely togeth-
er, epidemics easily spread, and due to the high mobility of the armies,
these epidemics spread to local populations. One of the most feared diseas-
es is epidemic typhus. Wikipedia describes the disease as follows:*!

“Epidemic typhus is a form of typhus so named because the disease of-
ten causes epidemics following wars and natural disasters. The causa-
tive organism is Rickettsia prowazekii, transmitted by the human body
louse (Pediculus humanus humanus).

Signs and symptoms

Symptoms include severe headache, a sustained high fever, cough, rash,
severe muscle pain, chills, falling blood pressure, stupor, sensitivity to
light, delirium and death. A rash begins on the chest about five days af-
ter the fever appears, and spreads to the trunk and extremities. A symp-
tom common to all forms of typhus is a fever which may reach 39°C
(102°F).

Transmission

31 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Epidemic_typhus
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Feeding on a human who carries the bacterium infects the louse. R.
prowazekii grows in the louse’s gut and is excreted in its feces. The dis-
ease is then transmitted to an uninfected human who scratches the louse
bite (which itches) and rubs the feces into the wound. The incubation
period is one to two weeks. R. prowazekii can remain viable and viru-
lent in the dried louse feces for many days. Typhus will eventually kill
the louse, though the disease will remain viable for many weeks in the
dead louse.

Epidemic typhus has historically occurred during times of war and dep-
rivation. For example, typhus killed millions of prisoners in Nazi con-
centration camps during World War Il. The deteriorating quality of hy-
giene in camps such as Auschwitz, Theresienstadt, and Bergen-Belsen
created conditions where diseases such as typhus flourished. ”

The disastrous effects of typhus have been felt by many nations throughout
history, for instance (ibid.):

“Epidemics occurred throughout Europe and occurred during the Eng-
lish Civil War, the Thirty Years’ War and the Napoleonic Wars. During
Napoleon’s retreat from Moscow in 1812, more of his soldiers died of
typhus than were killed by the Russians. A major epidemic occurred in
Ireland between 1816-19, and again in the late 1830s, while yet anoth-
er major typhus epidemic occurred during the Great Irish Famine be-
tween 1846 and 1849. The Irish typhus spread to England, where it was
sometimes called ‘Irish fever’ and was noted for its virulence. It killed
people of all social classes, since lice were endemic and inescapable,
but it hit particularly hard in the lower or ‘unwashed’ social strata. In
Canada, the 1847 North American typhus epidemic killed more than
20,000 people, mainly Irish immigrants in fever sheds and other forms
of quarantine, who had contracted the disease aboard coffin ships.

In America, a typhus epidemic killed the son of Franklin Pierce in Con-
cord, New Hampshire in 1843 and struck in Philadelphia in 1837. Sev-
eral epidemics occurred in Baltimore, Memphis and Washington, D.C.
between 1865 and 1873. Typhus fever was also a significant killer dur-
ing the American Civil War, although typhoid fever was the more prev-
alent cause of US Civil War ‘camp fever.’ Typhoid is a completely dif-
ferent disease from typhus. [...]

During World War | typhus caused three million deaths in Russia and
more in Poland and Romania. Delousing stations were established for
troops on the Western front but the disease ravaged the armies of the
Eastern front, with over 150,000 dying in Serbia alone. Fatalities were
generally between 10 and 40 percent of those infected, and the disease
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was a major cause of death for those nursing the sick. Between 1918
and 1922 typhus caused at least 3 million deaths out of 20-30 million
cases. In Russia after World War 1, during the Russian Civil War be-
tween the White and Red, typhus killed three million, largely civilians.”

Until the middle of the Second World War, the most effective agent in
combating the epidemic-transmitting louse was the pesticide®? Zyklon B, of
which hydrogen cyanide was the lethal component and that was delivered
in the form of pellets in metal cans. In the beginning of the Twenties, this
chemical preparation had been developed and patented in 1922 by Degesch
(Deutsche Gesellschaft fir Schadlingsbekdmpfung, German Association
for Pest Control) led by Dr. Walter Heerdt.*® It was produced by the Des-
sauer Werke fiir Zucker-Raffinerie and from 1935 also by the Kaliwerke
AG in the Czech town of Kolin; for areas east of the Elbe River, the Tesch
& Stabenow Company of Erfurt was the distributor. Zyklon B was used for
the fumigation of ships and grain silos, for the disinfestation® of dwellings
as well as of clothing and bedding. (Still today it is available under the
name of Cyanosil for cases of especially tenacious parasite infestation).

Needless to say, the demand for Zyklon B increased strongly after the
outbreak of the Second World War. In 1942, Tesch und Stabenow supplied
various customers with a total of 79 metric tons; in 1943 already 119.5
metric tons of the pesticide were delivered. One of the important customers
was the sanitation branch of the German Armed Forces that received 11.2
metric tons in 1942 and some 20 metric tons the following year. Large or-
ders also came from abroad; in 1943, Norway ordered twelve metric tons,
and the Finnish army in the same year ten metric tons of Zyklon B (Lind-
sey 2001).

It was only natural that the dreaded typhus also spread in the concentra-
tion camps: The constant arrival of new prisoner transports as well as the
regular transfers of detainees from one camp to the other made this inevi-
table. From the summer of 1942 on, the epidemic raged in an especially
grueling way in Auschwitz, where a large part of the inmates succumbed to
it at that time. The epidemic reached its height in the period between Sep-
tember 7 and September 11, when on average 375 inmates perished every
day (Pressac 1994, p. 193). In the following months, the epidemic faded
but resurged time and again in the history of the Auschwitz Camp.

The mass mortality in the concentration camps in the last phase of the
war was for the largest part also due to typhus. During the evacuation of
the eastern camps, the detainees were transferred to the western camps

3 Mostly the term “insecticide” is used, but because Zyklon could also be used for killing harm-
ful rodents, “pesticide” is the more appropriate expression.

3 Cf. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Zyklon B.

3 Extermination of harmful animals (insects and rodents).
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with the result that the barracks there soon were hopelessly overcrowded,
and the epidemic introduced by the newcomers claimed thousands and
thousands of victims. In the propaganda, the footage of the corpses is
shown to the present day as proof of the “Holocaust” in the sense of a
planned extermination of the Jews.

In order to contain typhus through killing its transmitter — the louse —
the camp administration ordered large quantities of Zyklon B. The first in-
dication of the use of this pesticide in Auschwitz can be found in a June 12,
1940 “activity report for the period June 5 to June 11” written by construc-
tion supervisor August Schlachter, saying:*®

“Building No. 54, which is slated for accommodating the guard detail,
was gassed against vermin and diseases. ”

The first Zyklon-B delivery to Auschwitz about which there are known
documents is from November 1941; the delivered quantity was 3,000 kg
(Bartosik/Martyniak/Setkiewicz 2014, p. 51).

For the years 1942 and 1943, the total quantity of Zyklon B delivered to
Auschwitz is exactly known: 7.478 metric tons for 1942 and 12.174 metric
tons for 1943 (NI-11396). For 1944 the archives have only been partly pre-
served; there are six bills from the period February 14 to May 31 that show
the delivery of in total 1,185 kg of Zyklon B to the Auschwitz Concentra-
tion Camp (1553-PS).

Numerous documents show how much the camps administration de-
pended on the deliveries of Zyklon B. Here an example from the Majdanek
Concentration Camp. On July 3, 1944 the garrison physician of the SS and
police Lublin made a “special order for 500 cans Cyclon B”, because
(Graf/Mattogno 2016b, p. 199):
